# LAND USE STAXATION



Applying the Insights of

lany George.

# LAND USE & TAXATION

Lincoln Institute of Land Policy Cambridge, Massachusetts Lincoln Institute of Land Policy, Cambridge, Massachusetts 02138-3400 © 1997 by the Lincoln Institute of Land Policy All rights reserved Printed in the United States of America

Library of Congress Cataloguing-in-Publications Data

#### Brown, H. James, Editor

Land use & taxation: applying the insights of Henry George/p. cm. Includes bibliographical references (p.).

- 1. Single tax. 2. Land value taxation. 3. Real property tax.
- 4. Land use—Effect of taxation on. 5. Real property and taxation.
- 6. George, Henry, 1839-1897.
- I. Brown, H. James (Howard James), 1940-.
- II. Lincoln Institute of Land Policy.

HD1313.L3 1997 333--dc21

ISBN: 1-55844-124-7

Project Management: FINELINE Communications Group, Inc.

Design: Landry Design Associates Printing: Galligher Printing Services

# LAND USE & TAXATION

Applying the Insights of Henry George

Edited by H. James Brown

Lincoln Institute of Land Policy Cambridge, Massachusetts



**This book is dedicated to David Colvill Lincoln,** in appreciation for his selfless service to the Lincoln Institute of Land Policy, and through it, his generous and consistent support for the advancement of knowledge in the field of land use and taxation.

v

### **Foreword**

In 1972, David Lincoln had an idea. As steward of his father's trust and sharing his abiding interest in the work of Henry George, he felt that he could best serve his father's wishes by providing a forum for the examination of Georgist ideas. After an extensive search for both the right geographic location and the best person to lead the organization, the Lincoln Institute of Land Policy was established in 1974.

This relatively long planning process for an entity that was fully funded from the beginning is in keeping with David Lincoln's thoroughness. He wanted to be very certain that the Institute had a strong foundation, and he would not be rushed into premature decisions about location and focus. Now, after guiding the Institute's activities for 22 years, David Lincoln has stepped down as chairman. Again, true to his style, he waited until he felt the organization was healthy and stable before passing on its leadership.

vii

viii

During the past year, his colleagues and I have looked for opportunities to acknowledge David Lincoln's contributions to the Lincoln Institute of Land Policy, but in ways that suit his quiet competence. He is not a man for accolades and applause, but rather a man of substance and thoughtful work. And so the idea for this collection of essays was conceived.

Henry George was a truly original thinker, and many of his insights are just as forward-looking today as when he wrote *Progress and Poverty* more than one hundred years ago. In fact, it is sometimes difficult to recall that George is not referring to current social and economic conditions, so familiar are the questions he addresses.

Land use and taxation issues have of course become much more complex since George's time, and there are no easy, straightforward answers. Even so, the need for practical and equitable solutions to land-related problems is even more critical today, and Henry George's ideas should clearly be considered in the ongoing search for workable policies.

It is my hope that this book will take us one step closer to a fuller understanding of important global land use and taxation issues. If it can stimulate the discovery of good answers to just one of the many land-related dilemmas we face today, there could be no better tribute to David Colvill Lincoln's years of tireless service and leadership.

—Kathryn J. LincolnChairman of the BoardLincoln Institute of Land Policy

## **Contents**

H. James Brown	
Introduction	1

Robert M. Solow

How to Treat Intellectual Ancestors 7

H. James Brown and Martim O. Smolka
Capturing Public Value from Public Investments 17

Volatility, Speculation, and the Efficiency of Land Markets 33

Dick Netzer

The Centralization and Decentralization of Government and Taxation 43

William A. Doebele

Land Use and Taxation Issues in Developing Countries 57

C. Lowell Harriss
Ethical Issues in Land Policy 71

Daniel W. Bromley
Private Land and Public Values 81

Joan M. Youngman
Henry George, Property Rights, and Taxation 91

Contributors 104

## Henry George's Contributions to Contemporary Studies of Land Use and Taxation

#### 5

#### H. James Brown

When Henry George published his most famous book, Progress and Poverty, in 1879, the United States had no zoning laws, no income taxes, and only two national parks. Although George could never have anticipated all the changes in real estate development, public finance, and property rights that would occur over the following century, the fundamental policy issues that he analyzed are as pressing today as they were 120 years ago. In essence, we are still asking the same question: How do you strike an equitable balance between private property rights and public interests in land?

Henry George wrote at a time when the era of nearly free land on the American frontier was coming to an end. George was concerned that diminished access to land would undermine the relative equality of economic opportunity—and therefore of political rights—that distinguished the United States from the "old" countries, some of which were responding

2

to a wave of social conflict by retreating from representative democracy. Like the classical economists, Henry George believed that competitive markets and private property encouraged efficiency and productivity by systematically rewarding producers for meeting consumers' needs at the lowest possible cost. He also recognized that land is a very peculiar commodity. No matter how high its price rises, its supply cannot increase. Yet the demand for land inevitably grows with the human population, because every human being has to consume natural resources and needs a place to live. As a result, landowners tend to grow wealthier regardless of how well (or how badly) they use the land.

George proposed a simple but radical solution to this dilemma. While some reformers supported the outright public ownership of land, George instead suggested taxing away the value of land produced by anything other than private efforts. Such a land value tax would keep private landowners from unfairly capturing the benefits afforded by natural resources, urban locations, and public services. George also believed that this tax would force landowners either to put their land to its economically "highest and best" use themselves, or make it accessible to someone who would.

The essays collected here explain why Henry George's basic ideas about land use and taxation issues still have currency, despite how radically different the world has become as we arrive at the end of the twentieth century. The authors come to the task from a range of disciplines, providing several points of view on Henry George's contributions as an "intellectual ancestor." As Nobel laureate Robert Solow puts it, "The best way to keep Henry George's ideas alive and effective is to develop and refine

them, and to extend their range of relevance to issues of land use, urban form, and taxation—including many aspects that could never have crossed George's mind."

Taking up this charge, Martim Smolka and I look at how several new land taxation policies, such as impact fees and benefit assessments, are being used to capture the portion of land values created by public actions. While the implementation of any new type of tax inevitably faces serious resistance, new land taxes are particularly vulnerable because of the political power of landowners. Even so, it is our view that these mechanisms for value capture—while more limited than what Henry George would have recommended—can still be an important revenue source for pressured local governments, particularly in developing countries.

Karl Case's essay then addresses the issue of efficiency and concludes, along with Henry George, that government intervention may be more justified in the case of land than in other kinds of markets. Case's argument is that land prices tend to undergo sharp run-ups and slow "sticky" downturns—movements that neither accurately nor quickly reflect the "use value" of land. Speculation only exacerbates this pattern, and can ultimately undermine the competitiveness of an entire regional economy.

The following chapter, contributed by Dick Netzer, describes why property taxes—which funded almost all public services in Henry George's time—now provide only a quarter of all government revenues in the United States. With the recent move to decentralize government, however, there is growing pressure to generate more revenue from the property tax. As evidence why "the ideas of Henry George are more central to the

circumstances of American government than they have been for some decades," Netzer cites the threat to municipalities such as New York City, which reaped none of the rewards of soaring land values during the 1980s but must now find the resources to deliver more services locally.

William Doebele follows up with a brief history of urban property rights and land use in developing countries, where the traditional distribution of ownership long made land taxation politically impossible. Today, though, international development agencies are actively investigating ways to institute local systems of property taxation as a way to promote economic development. Doebele notes that the formerly socialist countries provide ideal laboratories for testing Georgist ideas because they are now "wrestling with both the practical and philosophical issues of the state's right to participate in the increases in land values that occur from industrialization and rapid urban expansion."

C. Lowell Harriss demonstrates that Henry George's intellectual and moral appeal extends not just to planners and policymakers, but also to environmentalists and urban advocates. Environmental and growth management regulations recognize that land is unique, and that decisions about its use have long-lasting and far-reaching effects. Harriss underscores how zoning, planning, and permitting have made it difficult to draw a precise line between privately and socially created value in land. He also warns that attempts to capture *increases* in value due to public actions may also provoke, in other cases, counterclaims on government for *decreases* in value.

Daniel Bromley offers another perspective on the fundamental Georgist challenge—balancing private property and the public interest in land.

Bromley argues that public and private rights and values are interdependent. The rights of landowners are essentially created by social rules, and those rules must evolve as society gains new knowledge and adopts new standards in both land use and politics. From that standpoint, regulations restricting what private owners may do with "their" property are simply the logical flip side of "the social gift of private land ownership." Bromley agrees with Henry George that, as an incentive system, the private ownership of land offers broad economic benefits, but he questions how land "can . . . assure liberty when not everyone has (or can obtain)" access to it.

Finally, Joan Youngman expands on several of the preceding essays by exploring the thorny issues involved in implementing a fair property tax system. She cites the many reasons for citizens' well-known animosity toward the property tax, including the difficulty of separating and measuring the public and private components of land value. Indeed, Youngman concludes that it may be impossible to disentangle these two sources of value completely as changing technology and social norms create new forms of property. Nevertheless, she notes that the recent trend toward relying on the taxation of consumption or incomes—and reducing taxes on wealth and property—raises precisely the same issues of public fairness and private productivity that Henry George identified more than a century ago.

While they offer markedly different perspectives, each of the authors who contributed to this volume would agree that Henry George's ideas have much to add to the ongoing debate over land policy and taxation issues. As we at the Lincoln Institute of Land Policy pursue our mission to inform public decisionmaking in this realm, we will continue to mine this rich intellectual legacy.

#### 7

## How to Treat Intellectual Ancestors

## Robert M. Solow

In the life of the Lincoln Institute of Land Policy, the shadow of Henry George is always somewhere on stage or in the wings. The question of the proper relation of the Institute's day-to-day work to the ideas expressed in *Progress and Poverty* is perennially open. The Institute owes its existence to John C. Lincoln's belief in George's ideas and to his explicitly stated wish to teach and expound them. The presence of David Lincoln on the Board of Directors, along with other members of the Lincoln family, guarantees that the question will periodically arise, to be seriously discussed.

But the question would persist even without that direct stimulus, because it is right that it should persist. No one should carelessly or self-indulgently alter the seriously intended purposes of an institution, certainly not without a long evolution. There are some—also seriously intended—qualifications built into my choice of words. Here is an illustration of their intention. Years ago, Roger Babson, financier and investment counselor, gave some money to the Massachusetts Institute of Technology for the explicit purpose—I am relying on fallible memory here—of fostering research on the relation between Newton's law of action and reaction and the business cycle. Well, there is no relation between Newton's law and the business cycle. It seems to me that a fundamentally silly purpose, even if seriously intended, is entitled to only minimal respect; MIT is justified in using every bit of flexibility that the law will allow in applying Babson's gift to sponsor intelligent research on the business cycle, even if the connection to Newton's laws is inversely proportional to the square of the distance to Jupiter. The point is that a rule of reason applies.

The case of Henry George and the Lincoln Institute is quite different. There is nothing inherently silly—quite the contrary—about George's basic insight that the pure rental value of land usually owes little or nothing to the actions of the owner, and that therefore the rent could be taxed away without inducing any inefficiency in the allocation of resources, and perhaps with justice. (Whatever was the case in 1879, however, it is no longer true that the proceeds of such a tax would be enough to cover all the legitimate expenditures of government.) So the role of George's ideas in the work of the Institute has to be decided.

The theory of rent has a long history in economics, and George has an honored place in that tradition. This is important because it reminds us that George was an economist, and one of the major figures of nineteenth-century American economic thought. He happens also to have founded a

movement, and that makes the underlying issue more difficult. There should be something to be learned from the story of other economists who intended their ideas to play an important role on a larger stage. That is the premise of this brief note.

The obvious parallel to consider is Karl Marx and *Capital*. It tells us something about the relation between a text intended as science and a political movement based on it. There was a time when Marxian economics—right or wrong, it does not matter from this point of view—was a lively enterprise. In the time of Otto Bauer and Austrian Marxism, Rosa Luxemburg and others, some Marxists were looking at the world and trying to interpret it by applying the concepts of Marxian economics. They did not seem to be inhibited by the thought that any modification or extension of Marx's ideas, any departure from the text, would be automatically an error, even a blasphemy.

But the movement took its toll, or at least that is what I think happened. The fact that the movement was or became totalitarian certainly did not help; but I am inclined to think that the course of events would have been similar anyway. Marxian economics became an act of piety instead of a research program, and *Capital* became a sort of scripture rather than a work of economic theory. I am sure there have been exceptions, but the impression is strong that Marxian economists spent their time reinterpreting the master's language into dicta about the twentieth-century world, instead of extending it and amending it to serve as a research tool for finding new generalizations about the twentieth-century world. It is a dead giveaway when a tradition spends footnote after footnote establishing legitimacy by quoting from a master text instead of going about the

business of the moment. In honesty I have to say that I think that Marxian economics was a dead end anyway, so that Marxian economists would have had a hard time doing "normal science" in that framework.

By way of contrast, consider the case of Léon Walras, who wrote Elements of Pure Economics in 1874. Walras had no intention of founding a movement. He was the founder of what is usually called "general equilibrium economics." Here is a loose description of the idea. The state of the economy at any moment is a list of the quantities bought and sold of all the goods and services there are, and the prices at which these transactions take place. The state of the economy is determined as the solution of a large number of equations. These equations are intended to describe the behavior of families in earning and spending their incomes in the presence of given market prices, the behavior of firms in choosing production plans that maximize their profits in the presence of given market prices, and the determination of those prices by the necessity of matching supply and demand in every market simultaneously. But markets are interrelated: the price of pork depends on the demand for chicken, the supply of both depends on the price of grain. So the economy has to be regarded as a vast interlocking system.

Although it is essentially impossible to apply so complex a theory to any specific economic situation, this framework underlies a very large part of all the economic research that is done today. Clever people find shortcuts that enable them to take account of "general equilibrium effects" in the course of studying some particular applied problem; assistant professors earn tenure by exploring some gap in Walras's theory and showing how to fill it or circumvent it.

The point is that no one reads the *Elements of Pure Economics* any more except historians of economic thought. Students learn general equilibrium economics, but they learn it in its modern form from up-to-date textbooks and lectures. The theory now includes things that Walras had never thought about, asks questions that had never occurred to Walras, and uses analytical methods that were invented long after Walras's death. Walrasian economics is alive and well in the literature, but you will almost never find a reference to Walras. You will find references to Arrow, Debreu, Hahn, Hildenbrand, Mas-Colell and dozens of others, some of whom are developing the theory, some of whom are deploring its shortcomings, some of whom are rejecting the theory on the ground that its shortcomings are irreparable. But you will find no appeals to the authority of a basic text.

The case of John Maynard Keynes is more complex, and more interesting, than either of these. Published in 1936, *The General Theory of Employment, Interest and Money* was intended both to transform economic thought and to transform economic policymaking. It did both, at least for a while. It also ignited a powder-train of controversy that has lasted from that day to this, and is not over yet. In that controversy, ideas about economic theory and feelings about economic policy are all mixed up together, along with arguments about the correct interpretation of concrete data arising from today's economy. There is no doubt that Keynesian economics is alive; the controversy is about whether it is well or ill. (Again I should put my cards on the table: I am a strong, if sometimes quirky, supporter of Keynesian economics.)

The substance of Keynesian economics and the surrounding controversy is too complicated to describe here. It has to do with the question whether

the sort of (general) equilibrium reached by a modern, industrial capitalist economy is likely to be well adapted to the desires—for current and future goods and leisure—of the inhabitants, or whether there is a real possibility that it will involve pathological unemployment and underproduction for serious intervals of time (and, if so, exactly why). Ideas about theory and feelings about policy intermingle because the first outcome makes a case for minimal government while the second speaks for more in the way of deliberate public action.

The interesting twist occurs within the Keynesian side of the controversy. (The reader is warned that I have opinions on all this, and they will show.) It happens that the *General Theory* is not in the form of a tight, linear argument. It contains several strands of thought which, though not obviously inconsistent or incompatible, lead in different directions. It is thus possible to argue about "what Keynes really meant." In this respect Keynes is like Marx and unlike Walras or George. So the possibility clearly exists that a piece of economic analysis can be turned into scripture. That seems to me to be the death of any progressive idea. The interesting question is not what Keynes meant to say but what is really true.

Both pursuits can be seen in the Keynesian tradition. The landscape is convoluted in ways that are of no direct interest. To simplify, there are those who insist that they are the true Keynesians, and quote chapter and verse to prove it. This tendency began in England among Keynes's younger associates and their students, but has spread far beyond that circle to other places and people. Their common enemy is what is called "American Keynesianism" (or, more picturesquely, "bastard Keynesianism"), though there is nothing specifically American (or out-of-

wedlock) about it. American Keynesians have picked up on some, though no doubt not all, of the strands of thought found in the *General Theory* and gone on from there in several directions: corrections, new developments and extensions of the theory, links with other modes of thought and, above all, direct, empirically-based applications to the U.S. economy (and others) in aid of both understanding and the design of policy.

The underlying theory may be right or wrong, the applied conclusions may be valid or invalid. That is a vital issue about economics, but not for the point I am making here. Graduate students do not usually read Keynes; they study advanced textbooks and journal articles. The citations they read, and the ones they write, are to other articles and working papers. American Keynesianism, for better or worse, is an active research program. I think that is because it does not look back. "True believer" Keynesianism has been too enmeshed in textual pieties to accomplish very much. No doubt the contrast is not as stark as I have made it seem, but I would stand by the general picture.

One more example, drawn from outside of economics, may help reinforce the point. Think about Charles Darwin and *The Origin of Species*. The theory of evolution by natural selection is surely one of the great ideas of the nineteenth century, and it is alive and flourishing today. Later discoveries, from Mendelian genetics to the structure of DNA, have strengthened it. Contemporary evolutionary biologists, and by extension those who are creating an understanding of the molecular biology of the gene, are all working within the framework of the theory begun by Darwin. But no one, faced with a concrete problem in biology, asks what Darwin thought. I suppose some biologists read *The Origin of Species*, or read

about it, but I also suppose they treat it as a cultural monument and not as a set of instructions about doing biology. Only a historian of ideas would ask "what Darwin really meant." That does not mean that Darwin's ideas have evaporated; on the contrary, they are living on in the only worthwhile way. A group or institution dedicated to the development and propagation of Darwin's ideas would be failing if it devoted itself to distributing excerpts from *The Origin of Species* instead of pursuing modern evolutionary biology.

It seems to me that the obvious conclusion for the Lincoln Institute and Henry George is the correct one. The best way to keep George's ideas alive and effective is to develop and refine them, and to extend their range of relevance to issues of land use, urban form, and taxation, including many aspects that could never have crossed George's mind. The range of possible activities is very broad. It includes, at the academic extreme, fostering improvements in the theory of rent and in methods for measuring the pure rent element in the market return to property. At the policy end of the spectrum, it could include such activities as studying and teaching about the control of urban sprawl, especially through financial incentives; studying and teaching about the design of land-use and land-ownership institutions in places, like Eastern Europe and developing countries, where basic institutional choices are still open; and studying and teaching about land taxation, land use and environmental amenity. The list could be very long; this random selection is intended to indicate only how diverse it could be.

This approach has the merit of treating Henry George as a serious contributor to our continually developing ideas about the use of land and nat-

ural resources, and not merely as a sort of guru with scope circumscribed by the single notion of the single tax. It seems not only more likely to lead somewhere but also more respectful.

## Capturing Public Value from Public Investment

#### 5

## H. James Brown and Martim O. Smolka

**Without question, Henry George is best remembered** for his advocacy of the single land tax. In this chapter we will investigate George's ideas on capturing public value through a tax on land, and explore the practical and political problems encountered in implementing various forms of land tax in the United States and other countries.

Our conclusion is that while there are practical and political obstacles to implementing new land taxes, there are also real opportunities. Indeed, recent land taxes that attempt to recapture value created by the public sector have been very successful. Particularly in developing or transitional economies, land taxes can be both an important source of revenue and a stimulus to economic development.

#### Henry George and Value Capture

Henry George proposed that a single tax on all land value would not only improve society but also generate enough revenue to cover all public expenditures. Part of his rationale was that almost all of land's value—and therefore any increase in value—is the result of community rather than individual effort. In his view, it is only fair that the increase in land value resulting from community effort be taxed away from landowners and made available to the community as a whole. The logic of value capture is illustrated in the table below.

Types of Land Value Capture

ļ	Increase in Land Value Captured by	
Increase in Land Value Generated by	Community	Private Owners
Community	(1) Preservation of beaches and other lands/parks accessible to the general public Planned cities like Brasilia or New Towns in the United Kingdom	(2) Public investments in highways or utilities Provision of high-quality urban services such as schools Changes in zoning
Private Owners	(3) Beautification of a large private garden Pollution (negative increment) Movement of a famous person into a community	(4) Well-designed community or shopping center Gated community Beautification of a large private garden

Land value increases can result from either community or private effort, and the increased value can accrue to either a private landowner or the community at large. Examples of community-based efforts include public investments to provide better access to highways or utilities, changes in other publicly defined prerogatives such as zoning ordinances, and preservation of open or public space. Land values may also rise because population and economic growth or sheer speculation increase overall demand. Private actions that boost land value include design of an attractive community or shopping center, development of a gated community, or beautification of a large private garden.

The ethical proposition that one should be rewarded only for one's own effort implies that an individual should return to the community all value that results from community action. The actions listed in the upper right-hand box (2) of the table are examples of the unambiguous situation where public policy should capture back for the community the value generated by the community.<sup>2</sup>

Henry George felt that this kind of tax was not only fair, but that it would also provide several social benefits. We can summarize the positive impacts George predicted from adopting a single land tax as follows:

- 1. Sustainable public finance. The land tax will generate enough revenue to cover all public expenditures.
- 2. *Economic growth*. The tax on land can replace other taxes that reduce productivity and efficiency. Substituting the land tax for other taxes will therefore increase economic growth. (Henry George also believed

that a full land tax would eliminate business cycles and the resulting loss of efficiency.)

3. Reduction of poverty. A full tax on land would increase the land available for use and decrease land speculation. Together these changes would lower land prices and reduce the cost of living and the incidence of poverty.

In addition to accomplishing all of the above, the land tax would also fairly reward both community and private effort.

#### Practical and Political Obstacles to Value Capture

While the idea of taxing land had many supporters before Henry George's time, George was the one who advocated the idea with the most clarity and enthusiasm. Since then, economists and others have acknowledged the advantages associated with a land-based tax. Nevertheless, land taxes have so far been implemented in only limited ways.

In the following discussion, we identify some of the fundamental obstacles to land taxes in general and to two forms in particular: the first is the pure Henry George tax that attempts to tax all land rent; the second is a narrower version that only captures increments in land value that directly result from a particular public action.

Implementing a New Land-based Tax. All tax reform programs face the problem of changing a system that has been accepted and capitalized in the market.

Economists have long noted that the only "good" tax is an "old" tax. Any effort to move to a new tax system—and land-based taxes are certainly no exception—confronts this obstacle.

Simply announcing a new land value tax is likely to have immediate impacts on land transactions and value. For instance, the recently announced plan in Brazil to sell building rights at the square-meter cost of land, the so-called "Solo Criado" program, resulted in substantial withdrawal of investment by developers. This, in turn, has led to wide-spread revision or retraction of the policy.

Henry George was well aware of landowners' ability to affect land policy. He noted that landowners are often politically powerful, and politicians are often major landowners. Owners of land are therefore likely to prevent any change in land taxation because new taxes might reduce land values. The political strength of landowners, combined with the threat of market disruption, make it difficult to adopt changes in land taxes.

There is also uncertainty about how much revenue a new land tax will generate. Land values would be expected to fall with higher land taxes. If land values drop substantially, the revenue from existing land taxes will be much lower than anticipated. In the case of "Solo Criado," even though the policy applied only to new development, it would affect the prices of all land. If all land prices fell enough, the total revenue from land-based taxes would decrease even with a new tax. The threat of land price declines and the uncertainty about revenue impacts thus limit the political appeal of new land taxes.

There is also a concern that in the short run when there is only a limited amount of land available for development, or when there is collusion among landowners, the tax on land could be pushed forward to housing or other land uses. If the tax were instead on the building or improvements, for example, it could raise housing prices and aggravate problems of affordability.

In sum, any new tax proposal is bound to generate major controversy. And because of the political power of landowners, it has been—and will continue to be—difficult to adopt radical changes in land taxes.

Full Capture of All Increments Henry George argued that all land value increments were the result of community or public action. He therefore advocated complete capture by the community of all increments in land value. In today's complex world, however, there is much confusion about what "community" should capture the value.

According to Henry George, fairness dictates that the individual should not reap the return from community efforts. But which of the various levels of government or community should reap the benefits from the collective effort? In some cases, it might be fair for a local nongovernmental organization—say, an association of neighborhood residents—to capture the gains. In others, the local government or special district ought to capture the value. In still other cases, a regional or national entity is responsible for the increments to land value and therefore should fairly capture the value.

Some believe that the important issue is simply to capture public value from private owners. In their view, there's no need to be concerned about which part of the community captures how much value. We believe, however, that the international trend towards decentralized government will contrive to make this issue an important political one. Furthermore, there is evidence that citizens worry about the distributional aspects of taxes, and public support may depend on whether voters believe the revenue is fairly shared. Fair distribution of benefits requires some mechanism to determine which entity is responsible and to give the captured value to the proper entity. Such a mechanism could be established, but it would have to be very complex—thus negating much of the advantage a simple land tax would appear to provide.

Another reason Henry George advocated a land tax was that he felt it would reduce poverty and result in fairer income distribution. In the late twentieth century, however, owning land provides the best hope for most low-income (and many middle-income) households to generate wealth. The typical sequencing in the informal market of developing countries (i.e., occupancy, building, serving, and titling) has provided an important avenue of economic progress for the poor. When informal land markets are regularized and title given to occupants, lower-income families receive real gains in wealth. Further increases in land values may then strengthen their economic position. A tax on all increments in land value without compensating changes in the social welfare program would therefore undermine the economic progress of low-income households.<sup>3</sup>

For many segments of the urban population, particularly in developing countries, land ownership is also the only means to hold any value for security. Access to land ownership has played an important role in most developing countries for middle- and lower-income families as a means of

capitalization when capital markets are absent, weak, or inaccessible. In the present circumstances, then, imposing a single land tax could hurt rather than help the poor.

Henry George also argued that the land tax would improve economic efficiency. But, depending on how the tax is implemented, it could inhibit the development process as it now occurs. Developers play an important role in assembling land, designing a community, establishing the right mix of activities, and even defining new uses or ways of living. Determining how much of the value is community-generated and how much is the result of private action is difficult. Fully taking the increases in land value would virtually eliminate the developer as conceived in today's society—an agent that converts land use for profit. A developer's success or failure depends on the ability to define, manage, and sell "the right type of property, in the right location, at the right moment, for the right consumer." Without such an agent of change, valuable opportunities would be lost—a loss that can certainly be viewed as a reduction in economic efficiency.

The problem is to implement a land tax without losing the positive contributions of land developers. One solution is to capture only a percentage of the increase in value. A partial capture would leave the developer with some return, but still require a mechanism for sorting out the contributions of community and private efforts in creating value.

largeted Collection of Land Value Increments Caused by Public Actions. While there have been many recent attempts to adopt policies to capture the value created by direct public actions, even these narrower efforts have faced imple-

mentation problems. It is often difficult to attribute changes in land value to particular public decisions and to determine the precise timing or geographical impact of the public action. It is also difficult to determine how much of observed increments should be attributed to any particular public decision rather than other decisions or sources such as urban growth.

Practical and political obstacles also arise in deciding when and how to collect a tax on increments in land value. There are three obvious candidates for the timing of tax collection: (1) when a public intervention that will increase land value is announced; (2) when the increase in land value actually occurs or is perceived by the market; and (3) when the owner realizes the increase in value at a sale or a refinancing.

In the first instance, collecting the tax in anticipation of the increase in land value provides the funds to the public most quickly, but requires that the tax be based on expected or potential value. While some betterment taxes are collected in this manner, this approach is not favored because owners have to pay before they realize a gain.

Thus, if the market raises land values, the owner pays the tax based on the new value. Henry George advocated that the tax be based on the value of the highest and best use of the land. While land-based taxes are often collected on this basis, some feel it is unfair since the owner may not value the improvement in the same way the market does. For example, better access to employment or an improved school system may increase land values, but these improvements may be of little perceived value to an elderly couple that does not work or have school-age children. Basing the

26

land tax on market value thus requires some owners to pay even though they are not receiving benefits.

Economists typically do not see a problem with this timing because the tax is meant to be on land value rather than on personal benefits. To their minds, owners need only pay for the increased value of the land or else relocate. Others debate this issue on either political or ethical grounds, arguing that owners should not to be forced to make these changes because of factors they are unable to control. The decision in many parts of the United States to exempt the elderly from property tax increases is evidence that this view has political popularity.

The third option is to collect the tax at the time the owner realizes the increased value either by selling or refinancing the property. With this option, the owner is not required to pay until there is a transaction, and the owner has realized the gain from the increased value. The public, however, only receives payment substantially after its expenditure occurs. As a result, owners have an incentive to delay or hide the transaction and thus avoid paying the tax. Throughout the world, owners have been known to negotiate legal side contracts ("drawer's contracts") giving power of attorney without "officializing" the transaction.

The problem of when and how the tax should be collected is further complicated by cyclical variations in land prices. A tax on the incremental value must separate the cyclical component from the secular trend in prices. It is extremely difficult, however, to determine at any point in time how much of a change in land price is attributable to cyclical variation or to secular forces.

Yet another potential obstacle to the widespread adoption of value capture results from the fact that some public investments might actually lower land values. For example, public investments that reduce the spatial advantages of land with certain attributes can reduce overall land values. Value capture would seem to require that private owners be reimbursed for these declines, in much the same way that they are taxed when public investment increases land values. The logic of this symmetry clearly complicates the issue.

Recent efforts to increase private involvement in the construction and maintenance of public infrastructure adds further complexity. In today's world, we see private provision of "public" services and utilities. To be consistent with George's principles that one should be rewarded for one's own effort, private actors should be compensated when they increase the value of land owned by others (whether the others are private or public entities). Nevertheless, many people would find it unacceptable to have to pay big companies for increases in land value that result from corporate investment. Many would also find it unacceptable to have to pay their neighbors for increments in land value caused by the neighbors' efforts to maintain an attractive garden.

The capture of public investment has widespread appeal and is in fact mandated in various parts of the world. In some cases, it is possible to measure and capture the private returns that accrue from public investment. In many others, however, it is extremely difficult to assess the magnitude, timing, and spatial impact of public investment. In addition, there is no political agreement about when and how the tax should be collected. Finally, private sector involvement in providing public services raises

new, complex questions about the public's responsibility to capture value generated by private investment.

#### Recent Use of Value Capture

Despite the conceptual and practical problems of implementation, many new fiscal and regulatory instruments have been developed to capture land value increments. These public policy actions range from the use of property taxes by local governments to the selling of building rights. In addition, local governments have been getting back some of the benefits they had given to new developments through variances or zoning changes. These modern-day exactions—which might take the form of impact fees or requirements for the developer to offer land for public use—attempt to capture back publicly given value.

There are several reasons why these narrower forms of land value capture are gaining acceptance. First of all, governments around the world are decentralizing. This trend results from both the weakening of central states and the strengthening of numerous local organizations such as NGOs and other community-based associations. As local governments find themselves with increased responsibilities and without increased revenues, they are looking for new revenue sources to tap.

At the same time, those who pay local taxes (usually in the form of some kind of a property tax) are voting to reduce or to restrict local government use of property taxes. The "local tax revolt" has been stimulated by a general desire to lower taxes, as well as by the specific complaint that property tax payments are not connected with services desired or received.

This revolt has further increased the need for local governments to develop new sources of revenue.

Linked to the widespread dislike of property taxes is the fact that current residents have the political power to impose costs on "newcomers." Many residents are of the opinion that newcomers cause all of the need for public expenditures, and that they should pay for them. Given this belief, value capture instruments on new developments have popular appeal.

Value capture is also attractive to local officials looking for new revenue sources. These instruments are usually applied on a project or site basis rather than universally, providing important flexibility when negotiating with private investors eager to make a deal. Developers are often willing to pay "exactions" as long as they can still make a profit.

In sum, the recent popularity of value capture is closely associated with the decentralization of government and the growing need of local jurisdictions to find new revenue sources. In addition, because value capture taxes are aimed at new residents or new development, they get considerable support from current residents, who have the political power to pass such measures.

### Conclusion

Even though it would provide substantial advantages for society and the economy, implementing a single land tax receives little support in the complex world of the late twentieth century. Since Henry George's time, the tax system has evolved into a multitude of taxes assessed at various

levels of government. Indeed, given the large number of taxes and taxing jurisdictions, it is easy to understand the difficulty of imposing a new single tax of any kind.

Nevertheless, there is growing acceptance of a narrower tax on increments in land value resulting from public investment. These taxes are taking many forms that range from a direct tax on land value increments in Colombia to impact fees for residential developments in many parts of the United States. For reasons outlined above, even broader use of these kinds of tax instruments is likely in the next century.

Although Henry George would object to these narrower land-based taxes, we believe that these new measures provide many of the same benefits that would accrue from a broader Georgist tax on all land value. First, the ethical argument for capturing publicly created value from private owners is as valid today as it was when Henry George was alive. Taxes that capture private gains resulting from public investment would also be fair.

In our view, recent adoption of narrower land-based taxes has become easier because it is consistent with the widely held view that people should pay for what they receive. Still, we are concerned about the fairness of a process where current voters in a local jurisdiction can impose taxes on those who have not yet arrived and therefore cannot vote. We must find better ways to balance local political power with a desire to capture, for the community, value that has been created by community effort.

Second, substituting a land-based tax for other taxes to pay for public investment is efficient. Taxes on other resources, such as buildings or

labor, affect market incentives and tend to distort decision making. For example, a tax on houses will make houses less affordable. In contrast, a tax on land must be absorbed by the landowner and, because the resource is immobile, will not reduce efficiency.

Third, land-based taxes tend to lower land prices and reduce the incentives for land speculation. Given the surge in land prices in many locations around the world, this downward pressure on prices must be welcomed generally for its benefit to the economy, and particularly for the improvement in welfare it brings to lower-income households.

Fourth, while it is unlikely that land tax revenues could pay for all public expenditures in today's complex economies, they could cover a major part of public infrastructure investment. In this way, implementing land taxes would provide some relief for the strained budgets of local governments.

On balance, then, adoption of land-based taxes—even in a limited form—offers many benefits. A tax on land value increments in particular may eliminate some of the widespread animosity to land taxes generally. Indeed, the recent implementation of new land-based taxes could indicate one of two things: that the political power of landowners is diminishing, or that land is becoming less important and therefore not worth protecting with as much vigor. No matter which factor is at play, however, the opportunities to apply a broader tax on land may well improve in the twenty-first century.

### Notes

- 1. Henry George and other economists speak of "economic rent" as the excess of price over the amount required to keep the resource in use. Increases in land prices directly raise land's economic rent. To simplify the language here, we use the term "changes in land value" synonymously with "changes in land's economic rent."
- 2. Henry George argued that all increments to land value should be taxed away, even those in the lower right-hand box (4) in the table. George reasoned that all value was the result of the existence of the community, so all value should be captured.
- 3. The full distributional impact of the substitution of a direct tax on land for other taxes would depend on the details of incidence of the existing tax burden and the share of land owned by each income group.

### 33

# Volatility, Speculation, and the Efficiency of Land Markets

# Karl E. Case

Land markets exist in all societies where land can be privately owned. These markets play a pivotal role in the allocation of scarce resources by determining the location of economic activity. Manufacturing firms bid for locations that minimize transport costs, retail activity locates along highways, households compete for locations based on accessibility and amenities, and so forth.

The general presumption of economic theory is that markets work well to allocate society's scarce resources. With respect to land, the pattern of land values that emerges from market processes is generally presumed to be efficient: competition among households and firms, free of distorting taxes or regulations, will ensure the highest and best uses of land. Tiebout further suggests that a properly functioning land market assures efficient provision of local public goods.<sup>1</sup>

Why, then, is the government so heavily involved in land markets? First of all, land use inevitably involves externalities that must be internalized to ensure efficient patterns of land use. For example, building a smoke-producing factory in the middle of a residential area makes little sense, and constructing a three-story house with a 3,000 square-foot foundation on a 5,000 square-foot lot clearly imposes costs on abutters. The presence of externalities may legitimately call for government application of rational zoning rules as well as taxes and impact fees.

In addition, land markets may result in an unfair distribution of wealth. Henry George's call for a "single tax" on land rests on the proposition that gains in land value result from social and demographic forces that have little to do with the efforts of landowners. Taxing the social increment, he argued, would leave the allocation of land unchanged and efficient, while also returning the gains to society. George was fully aware of the important allocative function of the land market, and he wanted to tax land without distorting that function.

Evidence of another potential source of market failure has recently emerged in the literature. Since all asset values are based on expectations of uncertain future returns, they fluctuate with changes in expectations. Where expectations are "rational," this fluctuation presents no problem for the market. But where expectations are "adaptive" or not fully rational, and/or where prices are not fully flexible, land markets can become unstable, and this may lead to misallocation of resources.

While general consensus exists on the potential solutions to the externality problem, the appropriate role for government in "speculative" markets is

much less clear. Some have suggested the creation of forward or futures markets for real estate, while others have called for a variety of tax schemes. Interestingly, Georgist taxes may offer a useful approach to the problem.

### **Speculative Inefficiency**

The argument that land speculation may result in a form of market failure has two parts: (1) land markets are particularly vulnerable to speculative swings and nonrational expectations; and (2) land prices may be inflexible or "sticky" downward.

It is well-known that changes in asset values—in all markets—are highly sensitive to changes in expectations. Indeed, the sensitivity of investment to changes in the "animal spirits of entrepreneurs" is a central theme in Keynes.<sup>2</sup> Land markets, however, are particularly vulnerable. To understand the argument, it is important to consider the relationship between future flows of earnings and asset values in general.

The value of any asset is what an arm's-length buyer is willing to pay for it today. This amount depends upon the buyer's expectations of the future flow of benefits, revenues, costs, and risks associated with ownership. The price paid determines the "yield" or rate of return on the investment. For example, if a no-risk bond entitling the buyer to a continuous flow of \$100 per year sells for \$1,000, the buyer earns a 10 percent rate of return. If, however, higher returns on assets of comparable risk are available in the marketplace, the value of the bond is lower. Assuming the availability of 20 percent returns on bonds of comparable risk, our buyer would only be willing to pay \$500 for the same annual net flow of \$100.

36

Thus, implicit in every deal involving the sale of a capital asset are an expected flow of earnings, a purchase price, and a "capitalization rate" (implied rate of return) that brings them into balance. An apartment building expected to generate annual net revenues of \$100,000 that sells for \$1,000,000 implies a return—or capitalization rate—of 10 percent. The value of any asset, then, is inversely proportional to the capitalization rate. For a flow of earnings expected to be continuous at an annual rate R, the value is simply V = R/r, where r is the capitalization rate or implied rate of return.

Now consider the case of a real estate asset such as a commercial building. Land is only a fraction of the building's value. Suppose that a structure containing S square feet of rentable floor space could be built on a lot containing L square feet of land. Suppose further that the full cost of constructing such a building today, excluding land costs but including development costs, is C dollars per square foot. If gross annual rents are expected to be R dollars per square foot, and annual operating costs and taxes are O dollars per square foot, the annual net positive cash flow to the owner is (R - O)S. If the capitalization rate is r, the total value of such a building, including the underlying land, is (R - O)S/r.

Presumably, then, a developer should be willing to pay approximately that amount minus the cost of construction, or (R - O)S/r - CS, for the parcel of land. To put this in terms of land value per square foot, V, simply divide by the number of square feet in the parcel, L. Thus,

$$V = ([R - O]/r - C)S/L$$

To see just how sensitive land value is to changes in expected rents, consider what happens if R increases by a dollar. Assuming no change in O, C or r, land value per square foot, V, goes up by S/rL. Given a hypothetical high-rise building with a ratio of building space to land area of ten to one, and a capitalization rate of 10 percent, a change in expected rent of \$1 per square foot leads to an increase in land value of \$100 per square foot. Using the same simple logic, a change in expected rent of \$5 per square foot on a ten-story building on a two-acre lot (50 percent footprint) swings the value of the lot by \$21.8 million.

A similar logic can be applied to the residential real estate market. In the single-family home market, for instance, land can account for anywhere between 15 percent and 40 percent of total value. The return to a home-buyer who pays full price (with no mortgage) for a house has two sources. First, he or she lives in the home rent-free. The market value of the housing and neighborhood services this owner enjoys is referred to as "imputed rent." Second, the home may appreciate in value.

Given that no appreciation is expected, that the full value of the housing and neighborhood services is \$833 per month (\$10,000 per year), and that the owner expects a return of 10 percent, the house is worth about \$100,000. However, if homebuyers and sellers begin to expect annual home price inflation of just 2 percent, this adds another \$2,000 to the annual yield. The full yield therefore increases to \$12,000, and the house is worth \$120,000 or 20 percent more.

Assuming that the replacement cost of the structure does not change, the full increase in the value of the house/land combination is actually an

38

increase in the value of land. If land represents 20 percent of the total, its value would double from \$20,000 to \$40,000. Thus, a change in the expected rate of inflation in home prices of 2 percent could lead to a 100 percent increase in the value of the land that lies underneath a house.<sup>3</sup>

While it is clear that land values are highly sensitive to expected office rents and home prices, the question remains: What drives those expectations? Rational expectations are built on an understanding of underlying market dynamics and changing supply and demand forces. For example, in forecasting home prices, the relationship between "fundamentals" (such as household formation rates, construction costs, and housing starts) in a particular area is critical. In the same way, stock prices depend on future profits of firms, which can be modeled and projected. If expectations are not rational, however, values may over- or undershoot fundamentals. If expectations are adaptive (home price forecasts are based on past price behavior), prices may exhibit inertia and overshoot on the way up or the way down.

When actual events replace expectations, prices adjust to reality and to revised expectations. Regardless of whether expectations are formed rationally or not, if they adjust quickly to new information, markets will still be efficient. If prices are sticky or if they adjust slowly, though, efficiency may be compromised. And when adaptive expectations and downward stickiness combine, the results can lead to spatial misallocation. Consider a regional market that experiences a rise in land prices based on fundamentals. For example, suppose labor markets and office markets tighten in the region, pushing up wages, home prices, and office rents. Land prices increase by a large multiple. With adaptive expectations, inertia gets built into both markets and thus into land prices.

At this point, there is a wealth effect. The balance sheets of both households and firms reflect new assets, which may alter behavior. New housing wealth can lead to additional spending on locally produced goods and services if households substitute new equity for financial saving, or if renters become discouraged by high prices and slow their saving for a house downpayment. In addition, owners can tap their buildup in equity through home equity loans, which are pushed by banks and subsidized by the federal government through income tax deductibility.

One would expect, all else equal, that higher home prices and office rents would result in slower regional growth. In a world of rational expectations, prices and rents immediately fall to levels consistent with the new reality, keeping the economy on track. But in fact, prices overshoot and then stick. The region becomes too costly relative to other areas, and economic activity that would normally have a comparative advantage locating in the region therefore shifts to other locations.

All of this increases the severity of the regional business cycle. In a way, it is simply a version of the accelerator first discussed by Keynes. The difference is that it is the run-up in asset values, rather than a direct increase in investment spending, that accelerates the upswings and then leads to more severe downturns.

Another source of cyclical instability may be the lags implicit in the development process. The time involved in permitting, land assembly, design, contracting, and building can be as long as ten years. Such lags can lead to a classic "hog cycle." The logic is simple: Developers respond to tight office markets and high rents during an economic expansion by planning

new buildings. Since the response is not coordinated and since expansions are inevitably followed by contractions, the result is often overbuilding, which leads to high vacancy rates and falling rents once the buildings come on line.

### **Empirical Evidence of Inefficiencies**

My own research, as well as work with Robert Shiller and others, has attempted to document the inefficiency of real estate markets and, by implication, of land markets.<sup>5</sup> Early analyses suggested that during the great housing boom of the mid-1980s in the Northeast, fundamental economic conditions did not explain the dramatic run-up in house prices. The evidence indicated that the boom was at least in part speculative in nature. That is, homebuyers' expectations of future capital gains made them willing to pay more for housing than they otherwise would have.

Building on this conjecture, we used a massive data set to construct price indexes for Atlanta, Dallas, Chicago and San Francisco for the period 1972-86. After performing weak form efficiency tests on the indexes, we concluded that indeed, past house prices seem to predict future house price changes. This is taken by most economists to indicate speculative behavior. Strong form efficiency tests subsequently provided further evidence of inertia in house prices.

Another strand of research concerns the consequences of boom/bust cycles. Looking at owners and renters in Boston by income bracket, we estimated increases and decreases in real wealth and income caused by the boom. Needless to say, the boom created much more inequality.

Finally, my study documenting the impact of the real estate cycle in the Northeast clearly reveals that the cycle had severe consequences for the functioning of the underlying economy. The recession of 1990-91 in New England was one of the most severe regional downturns in modern U.S. history, and much of this severity was the direct result of real estate markets.

### **Policy Options**

The volatility of real estate and land prices could be reduced in at least two ways. First, one of the private futures and options markets might establish an index-based, cash-settled forward market in home values. The argument is that if potential buyers and sellers who anticipate price increases or decreases can purchase options or futures to protect themselves, they are less likely to engage in speculative behavior in cash markets.<sup>6</sup>

A second approach is to manage or contain land prices through taxation. But, as I have concluded elsewhere, the evidence suggests that efforts to control speculative volatility through holding taxes, short-term gains taxes, or transactions taxes have been unsuccessful. It may well be that the potential gains to holding leveraged assets during boom periods are so great that even high rates of taxation do not discourage many people from jumping in.

The problem may simply be that we do not have the political will to raise land taxes to levels high enough to really retard boom cycles. How high is high enough? No one knows, but it is probably closer to Henry George's 100 percent than to current laws around the world.

### Notes

- Charles Tiebout. 1956. "A Pure Theory of Local Expenditures." Journal of Political Economy 84 (December): 416-24.
- J. M. Keynes. 1936. The General Theory of Employment, Interest and Money. New York: Harcourt, Brace and World.
- 3. This effect is even more dramatic if the home is purchased with a mortgage. An 80 percent mortgage means that the initial investment was leveraged: The buyer's investment is only 20 percent of the sales price, but he or she owns the whole house. Thus, if the house is expected to appreciate 2 percent annually (in this case, \$2,000), the yield on the homeowner's investment goes up by ten full percentage points. A homebuyer who puts down only 20 percent, given an 8 percent mortgage rate, would be willing to finance a house worth over \$150,000, and the land value would jump by 150 percent.
- 4. L. E. Browne and K. E. Case. 1992. "How Commercial Real Estate Undid the Banks." In *Real Estate and the Credit Crunch*, eds. Lynn E. Browne and Eric S. Rosengren, 57–97. Boston: Federal Reserve Bank of Boston.
- 5. For a full discussion of these issues, see: K. E. Case and R. J. Shiller, "The Efficiency of the Market for Single Family Homes," American Economic Review 79 (March 1989): 125–37; K. E. Case and Leah Cook, "The Distributional Effects of Housing Price Booms: Winners and Losers in Boston, 1980–1988," New England Economic Review, May/June 1989: 3–12; K. E. Case, "The Real Estate Cycle and the Economy: Consequences of the Massachusetts Boom of 1984–87," New England Economic Review, September/October 1991: 37–46; and K. E. Case, "Taxes and Speculative Behavior in Land and Real Estate Markets," Review of Urban and Regional Development Studies 9 (1992): 225–39.
- Such a market is proposed in K. E. Case, R. J. Shiller, and A. N. Weiss, "Index-Based Futures and Options in Real Estate," *Journal of Portfolio Management*, Winter (1993): 83-92.

# The Centralization and Decentralization of Government and Taxation

# Dick Netzer

The America in which Henry George's ideas were formed had, for all practical purposes, one government and one tax—local government and the property tax. The Civil War aside (a big aside), the federal government in the middle decades of the nineteenth century had an extremely limited role. Its main functions were to deal with Indians on the frontier and to collect protective tariffs, the latter being a producer, rather than a consumer, of tax revenue. There were a number of major federal initiatives of great long-term importance, like subsidized construction of the transcontinental railroads, the Homestead Act, the subsidization of agricultural and mechanical arts at state universities, and the creation of a rudimentary (and unsatisfactory) national banking system. But none of these required federal taxation; whatever subsidy there was came from the grant or sale of public lands.

## Civilian Public Expenditure in the U.S.

(As Percentage of Total)

	1902	1927	1966	1980	1990
By Level of Government					
Federal	18	17	43	55	52
State	14	20	27	25	25
Local	68	63	30	20	23
Total	100	100	100	100	100
By "Budget Branches"					
Explicit Redistribution	8	7	29	41	4
Elementary & Secondary Schools	18	22	21	16	14
Allocation	<b>74</b>	71	50	43	43
Total	100	100	100	100	100
Financing of the "Budget Branches" by Level of Government					
Explicit Redistribution					
Federal	4	14	73	85	80
State	35	41	16	12	13
Local	61	45	11	3	7
Elementary & Secondary Schools					
Federal	*	*	12	17	13
State	19	15	36	48	45
Local	81	84	52	35	42
Allocation					
Federal	24	22	35	36	38
State	10	20	29	29	28
Local	66	58	36	35	34

#### Notes:

Civilian public expenditure excludes all expenditure related to defense and international relations. This table is an updating of one first used in Netzer, "State-Local Finance and Intergovernmental Relations," in Blinder et al., *The Economics of Public Finance*, Brookings, 1974.

1902 is the first year for which comparable Census Bureau data on government finances are available; 1927 is the last pre-Depression year for which comparable Census Bureau data are available; and 1966 is the year when substantial spending for Great Society programs began. "Composition of Public Expenditure by 'Budget Branches'" follows the conceptualization invented by Robert Musgrave, with two major modifications: first, it leaves out the "stabilization branch," a federal concern that, in expenditure terms, consists mostly of unemployment insurance expenditure; and second, elementary and secondary school expenditure is treated as a separate category that combines obvious redistributive goals with "allocation branch" goals and amounts to a large percentage of state and local expenditure.

<sup>\*</sup> Less than 0.5 percent.

Little had changed by the turn of the twentieth century, when the first useful census data on government finances became available, for the year 1902. All levels of government in the U.S. spent less than \$1.7 billion in that year, of which \$335 million was federal expenditure for current and past defense and international relations. Of the civilian public expenditure, two-thirds was financed locally. Intergovernmental fiscal relations were trivial: state aid financed about 5 percent of local expenditure

State governments had a small but significant role. They provided a variety of services that figured in the everyday functioning of civil society, but those services were not enormously expensive in those days, however costly they may have become in recent years. The major state functions were providing most components of the court system, operating the state universities (at a time when only a minor fraction of 18-year-olds completed high school), and operating a variety of correctional, health and welfare institutions like state prisons housing people serving long sentences, asylums, and tuber-culosis sanatoria (toward the end of the century). By the Civil War, most states had been so burned by their experiences in financing economic development that state capital spending was minor in amount. As a result, state governments could easily live on the property tax, especially in the Northeast and Midwest where a very large percentage of the population lived.

The state share of the property tax was a minor one, because local governments were responsible for the services that did cost real money: the schools everywhere, roads in rural areas, and, in the cities, streets and street lighting, police and fire protection, and sometimes health and welfare institutions. As the century wore on, the role of municipal governments in providing utility services increased, at first in water supply and later in

electric power in smaller and poorer cities that did not attract investorowned utility firms.

In light of all this, Henry George had to be thinking of local government when he thought about government and its role in civil society, and about his place in the political arena. He also had to be thinking about the property tax. There were no other direct taxes in existence. The indirect taxes on consumption consisted mainly of federal import duties and federal and state taxes on alcoholic beverages. It is true that in Europe, then and for a long time before, most government tax revenue came from consumption taxes, so there was a plausible, if inferior, alternative to the property tax in other industrial countries. Thus, in George's world, the choices in financing government really boiled down to continued reliance on the unreformed property tax, more reliance on consumption taxes, or a shift to a radically reformed property tax—one on the rent of land.<sup>2</sup>

## Centralization of Government in the Twentieth Century

By the beginning of the twentieth century, the major European countries were rapidly changing their fiscal systems and centralizing finances—even those where there had historically been a good deal of decentralization, notably Britain and Germany. Centralization progressed rapidly. In large part, the centralization of functions and finances was not based on any systematic opposition to local government as such, but instead reflected the costs of wars (preparation for and aftermath of) and the adoption of expensive new functions—like Bismarckian social insurance systems, heavy government investment in railroads, and the response to the Great Depression, which began early in the 1920s in many parts of Europe.

Prior to World War II in many cases and after it everywhere, most of the rich industrial countries saw the use of central government personal income taxes to finance wars (in Britain and elsewhere in Europe) and payroll taxes to finance social insurance (in Germany) as the model of modernity, as well as of the proper concern for fairness in the distribution of incomes. Few Western countries had been serious about local governments in general or about whatever form of property tax local governments had used traditionally, even in the previous century; it therefore became conventional wisdom that only central government taxes were fair and able to produce large revenues. And that was in fact true, given the quality of local tax instruments. For example, as late as the 1950s, the property values for local taxation used in "progressive" Norway were those set in 1895. Abolition of such a tax did not seem of any consequence.

In the United States, there were similar trends in the nature of fiscal federalism in the 1930s and after World War II. That had been preceded in the 1920s by a considerable, if uneven, expansion in the role of state governments. Indeed, the role of the state governments in financing civilian public expenditure increased about as much between 1902 and 1927 as it did between 1927 and 1966. (The fiscal importance of state governments in the aggregate has changed little in the past 30 years.)

The states had taken on a wholly new function: the construction and maintenance of roads. State universities and institutions were expanded. In some states, there was significant state aid for schools for the first time, usually linked to stronger compulsory education laws and the need to build high schools for all those children now required to attend them. More states were venturing into entirely new realms. North Dakota, for

example, experimented with a form of state government socialism by going into the commercial banking and grain storage businesses, among other things. State governments operated marine terminals in a few places (Mobile, Alabama for one), while others financed rail passenger terminals and even a subway line (in Boston), and most had considerably more active state park programs.

By and large, what the states were doing amounted to taking on roles that, a generation earlier, would have belonged to local government—if appropriate to any level of government. This was facilitated by the adoption of highway-user taxes in all states, and the adoption of income taxes in a few states, notably New York and California. An element of this centralization of finances was reform in the property tax, along four lines. First, state government use of the property tax was reduced in most states and eliminated in some. Second, the most difficult elements of the general property tax base from an administrative standpoint, intangible property and household personal property, were removed from the base in numerous states. Third, a few states—New York, Delaware and Pennsylvania—went so far as to remove all tangible personal property (notably, business machinery, equipment and inventories) from the tax base, to be replaced explicitly by the state tax on corporate income. Fourth, most states centralized the administration of the local property tax on railroads and public utilities, and radically changed the valuation process.

The centralization process in the U.S. went much further during the Great Depression and with the maturation of the institutional changes that it provoked.<sup>3</sup> Those changes, which provided for large-scale income transfers to persons (along with some services to the poor) and created for

the first time a true "redistribution branch" (in the Musgrave sense) in American government, were federal in inspiration and mainly federally financed. By the early 1960s, the federal government had become the number-one player in the American system of fiscal federalism. The state government role had continued to grow, institutionally because some of the federal redistributive programs required states' financial participation, and pragmatically because, after the local property tax system collapsed in the early 1930s, most states had adopted new sales taxes, primarily (at the outset) to provide income support for the unemployed.

The Great Depression began in the U.S. not with unemployment but with a liquidity crisis and a collapse of both commodity and asset prices. Then unemployment rose massively. Suddenly, a large part of property tax levies could not be collected: property owners simply could not pay. There was some voluntary walking away from property that was no longer economically viable—the "abandonment" problem that has existed in poor neighborhoods in large older cities since the 1960s—but most of the delinquency was involuntary. The property tax seemed doomed.

That prophecy appeared confirmed in the years immediately after World War II, as huge increases in school enrollments and suburbanization put great pressure on local governments, and therefore on the property tax. Assessors were not helpful. They generally treated the increase in asset values from the 1930s' low points as ephemeral, and assessments typically remained at those low levels. State legislatures responded not by directing that assessments be updated, but by providing substantially increased state funding of the schools and by authorizing, in many cases, local governments to employ non-property taxes.

The financial result is apparent in the following table. The property tax provided about 66 percent of local government financing in 1932, fell to 44 percent by 1950, declined again in the late 1960s and 1970s to just over 25 percent, and has remained steady since then. Changes in federal and state government grants were the main engine of the property tax decline until 1980, but local revenue sources other than the property tax accounted for 20 of the 41 percentage-point decrease in share over the entire 58-year period.

The Property Tax in Local Government Revenues

Percent of Local Revenue Raised by:	1932	1950	1960	1970	1980	1990
Property Taxes	68	44	43	37	26	27
Federal and State Grants	13	28	28	34	40	34
Non-tax Revenue	17	22	23	22	26	30
Local Non-property Taxes	2	6	6	7	8	9
Source: U.S. Bureau of the Census.						

The decline in the role of the property tax was not continuous over the entire period since the onset of the Great Depression. There have been two plateaus: from 1950 to the beginning of the Great Society era in 1965–66, and from 1980 until the present. The latter corresponds to a slight reversal in the overall role of local governments. The relative fiscal and operational roles of subnational governments in the U.S. remain larger than in any other sizable OECD country. When the comparison is confined to local governments per se (that is, excluding the intermediate layer of states, provinces and cantons), their role is larger in the U.S. than anywhere else in the world.

It is not surprising that Henry George's ideas were in eclipse during the half-century when most of the world was centralizing government functions and finances, and the U.S. replaced its single-tax, single-layer-of-government regime (in which the property tax provided as much as 75 percent of total public sector revenue) with the complex institutions and intergovernmental relations that now exist (in which the property tax provides only about 5 percent of total public sector revenue). This is not to say that George's ideas had been rendered invalid, only that they had been hidden by events, in three ways. First, while it can be argued that the centralization of government went too far, it did occur. Although land taxes have been used as central government taxes in other times and places, they have never been so used in North America and infrequently so used in other countries. Moreover, those infrequent uses generally have been so inept that the very association of central government with land taxes has unfavorable connotations.

Second, whatever the virtues of land taxes for central government, a new system of national land taxation cannot be implemented very rapidly. The huge increases in central government taxes during the century of centralization typically were responses to the exigencies of wartime, when governments needed very large increases in revenue but expected those needs to last only a few years. To be sure, it is short-sighted in the extreme never to pursue a desirable course of action because of long implementation time, when experience shows that the need for that action will recur time and again. Nonetheless, that myopia is understandable.

Third, it is not obvious that taxing the rent of land really would be sufficient to finance the enormous interpersonal income transfers that the modern welfare state makes, although some land value tax advocates 52

believe otherwise. The level and financing of that expenditure have been the central budgetary issue in most rich countries for the past twenty years.

### A New Wave of Decentralization?

Almost everywhere in the world today, devolution and decentralization of government services and finances are seen as good and important objectives to pursue. There has been a great deal of devolution by privatizing state-owned enterprises in countries that previously had very limited (most developing countries) or no (the Communist countries except for China and Yugoslavia) decentralization of government, as well as in OECD countries. But the actual degree of decentralization so far varies widely. Many of the more-or-less democratic developing countries, particularly in Latin America, have achieved considerable decentralization despite a centralized political tradition (matched with preposterous constitutional rhetoric about decentralization). In others, decentralization remains a word and no more. In one important developing country—South Africa—decentralized government and substantial reliance on property taxation were essential features of the governmental structure until the last decades of apartheid.

Most countries in transition are actively pursuing decentralization, usually from need rather than conviction, with the mixed results that almost all structural changes have produced in these countries. The re-establishment of private ownership rights in land and buildings has made it natural to look toward taxing those rights as part of two processes: privatization and subnational government autonomy. It is hard to imagine a situation where the ideas of Henry George more deserve a respectful hearing, and where the implementation of those ideas has so much to offer.

The rhetoric of decentralization exists in OECD countries, too, including those that are and have been relatively decentralized for a long time, like the bigger federal countries (the U.S., Germany, Canada and Australia). In all of these countries, central government budgetary retrenchment has tended to increase the subnational governments' share of total public sector finance, but only slightly. In the OECD countries that traditionally have been quite centralized, changes have been mixed. In Spain, which has been exceedingly centralized for a very long time, there have been major shifts to regional governments and serious interest in developing revenue instruments that are suitable for use by autonomous subnational governments. In Belgium, the language issue that divides the country has led to a considerable degree of fiscal federalism in what had been historically the most centralized fiscal regime in Western Europe.

In centralized France and Italy, in contrast, there has been some decentralization of governmental machinery, but no fiscal decentralization at all. And in Britain, with a strong tradition of local autonomy and (sometimes romantically exaggerated) differentiation based on property taxation, the central government did more to destroy local autonomy in the 1980s than ever before in British history.

In the U.S., the rhetoric in favor of decentralization is as strong as anywhere, as if the American fiscal system were one of the world's most centralized, rather than the opposite. In fact, there has been a decrease in the federal role and a matching increase in the local government role since 1980, with the property tax playing a larger part in local government finance. But these reversals are quite small, and it is entirely possible that what we are observing is a new equilibrium, comparable to that which

existed between 1950 and 1965, after which there was another major wave of centralization.

A number of things suggest, however, that the decentralization we have seen is a trend rather than a pause. There is the rhetoric of "less government," which clearly has less political strength at the local government level than at the federal and state levels. (There are good economic reasons why this should be so, reasons which are central to the ideas of Henry George.) There is the continuing federal budget deficit problem, which is likely to require reductions in federal civilian spending for programs and activities other than income transfers to senior citizens. There is the political appeal of personal income tax reductions at the federal and state levels. There is the reality of actions in 1995 and 1996, which radically changed the nature of major federal grant programs and which surely will slow the increase in grant levels over time.

On the other hand, it is not at all clear how long these influences will dominate American fiscal federalism. One can conceive of successful demands for major new federal initiatives that provide substantial federal funding for activities for which local governments now spend a lot. Recall that, within a short period, a massive federal police establishment has been created, and a substantial grant program as well, in a field in which federal and state expenditure had been trivial for more than 200 years.

But a sharp reversal toward renewed centralization seems unlikely very soon. The plateau or equilibrium may last for another decade, or more. This suggests that, in most of the U.S., there will be pressure to generate more revenue from the property tax for years to come. Other taxes will

continue to exist and even dominate the financing of government, even if we are truly in the midst of long-term decentralization. But surely the ideas of Henry George are more central to the circumstances of American government than they have been for some decades.

An obvious example of that relevance is that most large central cities—even those that have had terrible economic problems during part or all of the last thirty years—are in reasonably good shape today, and many of them do not face serious threats of economic disaster in the foreseeable future. Even so, if fiscal responsibility for public services continues to decentralize—and reduced spending for some programs results in more local spending for everyday services to the poor6—those local governments will be in trouble. They do not have the revenue structures to do the financing needed.

But how can that be, given that most had booming economies in the 1980s? The answer is that local governments, like the cities of New York and Washington, were unable to share in the most important economic benefit of the booms—the huge increases in land values. The cities, and the outside governments that control them (Congress in the case of Washington)—have chosen not to impose consequential taxes on the value of land. If Henry George had been mayor of New York in 1985, he would have had no doubt about the appropriate fiscal policies, and he would have been right.

#### Notes

- As the first "modern" war, the Civil War left in its wake substantial spending for services to the huge number of surviving soldiers, in 1902 about equal to current defense spending.
- 2. The federal personal income tax enacted during the Civil War was quickly abolished when the war ended. As in other countries in George's day, the personal income tax was viewed as a war tax, to be reduced to rather negligible levels or eliminated when peace came.
- 3. The Social Security Act was passed in 1935, but the first Social Security retirement benefits and unemployment insurance benefits were not paid until 1940. Coverage and benefit levels were greatly increased in 1951, when disability insurance was added. State public assistance programs were not in place in all of the states until the late 1950s.
- 4. In most major cities, assessed values of some types of property remain at the levels to which they were rolled back in 1934 and 1935. This is true of land values for residentially zoned land in much of New York City.
- The exceptions are surviving repressive regimes in the Third World, not including China, which is quite decentralized.
- 6. A good example is the sudden rise in the incidence of tuberculosis in the 1980s, mostly among the homeless, drug-addicted and incarcerated (not mutually exclusive categories). Whatever the specific etiology among those groups, the resulting epidemic was something that city and county public health agencies had to deal with, without any external funding.

### 57

# Land Use and Taxation Issues in Developing Countries

# William A. Doebele

Henry George postulated that the appropriate taxation of land was an essential element in the creation of economic prosperity. However, except in the Republic of China (Taiwan), the ideas of George have not been supported by any major political party or by national policy in any of the so-called "developing countries." To the contrary, the active manipulation of land markets by both private and public interests—especially in urban areas—has been tolerated or even encouraged in many nations.

In recent years, however, policies have been changing, and today it has become the accepted wisdom of international assistance agencies and the governments of most developing countries that an effective property tax is essential to general economic growth. Moreover, the so-called newly independent countries of the former Soviet Union and Eastern Europe are now wrestling with both the practical and philosophical issues of the

58

state's right to participate in the increases in land values that occur from industrialization and rapid urban expansion—in short, the very issues about which Henry George was most concerned.

To understand where we are today it is useful to review, in an extremely brief and simplified way, the factors that have influenced the political acceptance or nonacceptance of Georgist ideas in developing nations.

## Land Taxation in Capitalist Developing Countries

In the early years of independence, some countries, particularly in Africa, opted for socialist philosophies that simply declared that all land was the property of the state and would be allocated by it. Since there is no point in the state taxing itself, Georgist ideas were deemed irrelevant. The consequences of this approach are discussed in the following section dealing with the new countries created out of the old Soviet empire.

In developing countries with a more capitalist orientation, such as most of Latin America and East Asia, virtually all socioeconomic classes resisted any substantial taxation of land. In the preindustrial era of these societies, as in feudal Europe, ownership of land was the foundation of all wealth and social position. As modernization and industrialization occurred, the traditional landed classes naturally attempted to maintain their positions. Those persons holding real estate in or near the suddenly growing major cities were particularly favored in the lucrative process of converting rural into urban land. They were, in fact, classic cases of the phenomenon of "unearned wealth" so vividly described by Henry George, and against which his single tax proposals were directed.

These landowners could hardly be expected to support a system of taxation that would cut directly at the roots of their personal prosperity and power. To the contrary, they frequently entered (directly or indirectly) the political arena in order to create institutions favorable to their real estate activities. These institutions included the selective provision of access roads and other major infrastructure in areas where they had landholdings; the preservation of complex and archaic systems of land registration; the passage of subdivision and building codes that imposed impossibly high standards for lower-income classes, making it difficult for them to construct legitimate buildings; and the preservation of banking systems that effectively limited credit for land development.

As modernization succeeded in some countries, the emerging middle classes looked for secure investments to help consolidate their new wealth. Government bonds and other instruments of debt were susceptible to rapid devaluation through rampant inflation, and stock markets were either nonexistent or subject to manipulation. This distrust of embryonic financial markets made land—especially urban land—the investment of choice for the middle classes, indeed for anyone wishing to invest surplus funds. Land was protected against inflation, and in most cases, appeared to be continually rising in value as the flood of migration from rural areas constantly sustained a strong demand against a limited supply. Thus, the middle and commercial classes also perceived the freedom of land from any substantial taxation as fundamental to their economic security.

The poor, perpetually deprived of basic public services, might be expected to favor taxes on real property. However, for the lower economic classes

60

in developing countries, the most pressing problem (after finding work) was securing their own foothold in the bitterly competitive urban environment. Investment, brick by brick, in their houses was the only practical way to achieve the first step toward tenuous economic security. Because most new migrants lacked the funds to purchase properly registered land, they were by necessity forced to occupy land without proper title. Thus, the brick-by-brick construction of their own houses became not only an investment in itself, but also a means of securing *de facto* tenure to the land their houses occupied. Even the most repressive governments found it politically difficult to destroy squatter settlements on which substantial building had taken place.

The imposition of real estate taxation would mean an added expense that the poor could ill afford. More importantly, the threat of foreclosure for nonpayment would threaten their basic economic strategy of using land occupancy and self-constructed housing as the only feasible method to escape perpetual poverty. Thus, the lower classes had no reason to support the taxation of real estate unless it was tied to immediate and equivalent benefits.

With the traditional landed elite, the emerging middle and commercial classes, and the poor all opposed, it is easy to see why politicians were loathe to promote the type of property taxation suggested by Henry George—it simply had no constituency. Local politicians did, of course, note that immense numbers of urban families were desperate for adequate roads, water, sewage systems, garbage collection, electricity, street lighting, and other services, and that they would often be willing to pay for them if assured that the charges would indeed be used for these services.

Some countries, therefore, did experiment with various types of what we would call "special assessment districts."

Use of this form of property taxation was, however, limited because central governments in virtually all developing countries were politically unstable and feared that effective local and regional government leaders might challenge the dominant national politicians. Therefore, local governments and services were financed by subsidies and subventions from the national level, ensuring that the central authority could control localities through the purse strings.

In the late 1980s, though, attitudes began to change. By then it was clear to almost everyone, especially international assistance agencies, that central government management in most developing countries had been unsuccessful. Instead of leading to economic prosperity and well-serviced cities, it created ever-increasing subsidies, urban misery, and growing national debt. The World Bank therefore called for "structural readjustment," which meant strict controls on government spending and less state intervention in economic activities.

On the positive side, the new philosophy emphasized the twin objectives of decentralizing public decision making to regional and municipal levels, and increasing the independence of regions and municipalities by creating local sources of finance. A leading candidate for such local financing was, of course, the property tax.

As a consequence, there has been major pressure in recent years from international agencies, particularly the World Bank, to overcome political

resistance to the concepts of decentralized decision making and local property taxation. Simultaneously, private consulting organizations have been actively attempting to adapt the property tax to the operational conditions of towns and cities in developing countries. For example, the Harvard Institute for International Development has been working for several years on a largely successful project to bring a highly simplified or "streamlined" version of property taxation to Indonesia. The Property Tax Program at the Harvard Law School has been active in introducing a number of countries to the institutions of the property tax. Considered globally, the establishment of systems for the taxation of land and real estate is likely to become an important institutional/economic initiative in most developing countries in the next decade.

Although these new proposals fall quite short of the full-fledged single tax proposed by Henry George, they do represent a very significant shift in the political acceptability of his fundamental premise, to wit: the appropriate taxation of land is essential to economic prosperity. The new systems differ in that they tax all real property and not merely land. At the same time, they are profoundly Georgist in their goals. Henry George saw the single tax as the means by which society could finance necessary public expenditures. The new property taxes are targeted to produce the decentralized revenues needed to make cities and regions the centers of economic productivity: to build the highways, rapid transit systems, electric power grids, and so forth needed to make industries more efficient; and to help finance the water, sewer, and other systems needed to eliminate the appalling misery and disease that are now the scourge of residential districts in almost every major Third World city.

In classic communism and its imitators that frequently called their philosophies socialism, the state owns all land. Income from land and increases in its capital value thus automatically accrue to the public treasury. Since private persons cannot own land, there can be no land speculators. Henry George's ideas are thus irrelevant. However, all of this is in theory. The practice has been quite different.

The basic problem is, of course, that in real life the state is neither a perfect nor even unitary entity. It manifests itself through many, often contradictory, agencies, all of which are administered by fallible men and women, generally pursuing their own agendas rather than idealistic and unified goals as assumed by the original promoters of communist/socialist systems. In the specific case of state ownership of land, a number of practical consequences have followed:

63

1. Land is allocated according to ideology and political power, rather than to those who are willing to pay the highest price according to their calculation of the highest and best use. Thus, it was common in the Soviet Union and in the People's Republic of China to greatly overallocate the amount of land assigned to industry, and to underallocate the amount assigned to housing. "Industry," an ideologically and politically powerful ministry, was able to obtain immense central sites in cities regardless of functional appropriateness; "housing," a weak ministry, received small and often less desirable locations. While they would be difficult to quantify, gross misallocations of land in Soviet and

Chinese cities undoubtedly contributed to the inefficiencies of national production that eventually led to the collapse of Soviet and Eastern European economies in 1989.

- 2. In some socialist countries, particularly in Africa, the placing of such a valuable resource as land in the hands of a bureaucracy led to massive misallocations, favoring those well connected to political power or those who were able to corrupt key decisionmakers. Even in the best administered systems, such as the brief socialization of "development rights" in Britain from 1947 to 1952, state control over land and its development created massive problems of administrative delay, and inherently awkward and arbitrary assignment of prices in the absence of an actual market.
- 3. A valuable potential tax base was lost. Although in theory land rents paid to the state would more than compensate for lost taxes, in most cases rents and other charges for the use of state land were initially set at low values, and were seldom revised in later years to account for inflation or the increased value of the location.<sup>2</sup>

Today, years after the collapse of communist governments in the former Soviet Union and Eastern Europe and the economic failure of socialist regimes in other developing countries, virtually all governments are attempting to grant some private rights in land. Reform has not come easily. There has been great reluctance to completely abandon the idea that land is somehow special: a commodity vested with greater communal significance than other goods. Legal restrictions on migration to cities have been lifted, and foreign companies have been eager to obtain sites for new

enterprises. The phenomena that Henry George observed in nineteenth-century Gold Rush San Francisco are obvious in the major cities of such countries today—rapidly rising land values and attendant land speculation.

Unlike in the political climate of late nineteenth-century America in which George put forth his ideas, however, the established bureaucracies of the former communist/socialist countries have a vested interest in continuing some form of public interest in the land market. In addition, the fundamental Georgist concept that much of the value of land is socially created still holds a strong intellectual and moral appeal for those educated in communist/socialist doctrines. Moreover, all countries are sensitive about such a fundamental resource as land falling into the hands of foreigners. Recall the public clamor, even in the United States, when it was feared (incorrectly) that the Japanese were buying up Hawaii and the best properties in Manhattan and Los Angeles, and that wealthy Arabs were purchasing America's best farmlands.

Most former communist/socialist countries have therefore tended to move slowly in allocating land rights to private parties, using, in many cases, grants of rights that are far short of freehold—long-term leases being the most common form. Although Henry George is probably seldom mentioned by name, the debates surrounding these reluctant shifts in policy clearly raise the same moral, intellectual, and economic considerations that were first laid out in *Progress and Poverty*.

Unfortunately, these debates and the decisions that flow from them are severely hampered by ignorance: first, by a lack of knowledge of the full panoply of land tenure and taxation devices that can be applied to allocate

rights in land between private and public interests (and, in fact, are being used in the West); and second, by a lack of easy access to the techniques and experience of Western countries that have attempted to create institutions of private/public partnerships for land development.

#### **Summary and Conclusions**

At the urging of international assistance agencies, virtually all developing countries have accepted the premise that there can be effective economic development only if more decision making is devolved to regional and local levels. At the same time, it is commonly recognized that policy-making without independent sources of funds is meaningless. As a result, there is now an active interest in, and political support for, some form of taxation on land and real estate.

Countries that have experimented with communist/socialist land policies—including all of the former Soviet-dominated nations, much of Africa, and the remaining communist countries such as the People's Republic of China and Viet Nam—collectively represent a large percentage of the world's population. All of these countries are intensely debating new forms of ownership for land and real property that will balance the interests of a vigorous private sector with the interests of society in land as a resource passed from generation to generation.

Nevertheless, all developing countries—particularly those emerging from communist/socialist heritages—lack a single, comprehensive source of easily accessible information on:

- 1. All of the instruments available for taxing land for all possible purposes, ranging from general revenue to funding for specific public projects.
- 2. The broad range of land tenure types available in Anglo-American, European, Islamic (Sharia), and other major indigenous legal systems to define land ownership and balance the interest in maximizing private rights in land with protection of common interests and the environment.
- 3. The successes and failures of experiments with alternative forms of taxation and shared property interests.

Every day, policymakers in developing countries are making fundamental decisions about the nature of rights in land and the taxation of those rights. With each passing year, these decisions become more deeply rooted and difficult to change. The intentions of such policymakers are generally good: to formulate systems of land rights and taxation that lead to efficiency and productivity. Unfortunately, pivotal decisions are currently being based on very limited information. Policymakers rely on foreign consultants (who are often not fully educated in these specialized types of knowledge) and scraps of information the policymakers themselves have gleaned from reading, travel, and attendance at conferences.

There is an urgent need for centers of information about taxation and land tenure to which those wrestling with the vexing problems of economic development can refer. Being better informed does not, of course, lead automatically to better decisions. Knowledge about the full range of possible legal and fiscal systems will not eliminate the difficulty of adapting these systems to respect local conditions and cultural traditions.

There can be little argument, however, that informed decisions are likely to be better than those taken in ignorance. The historic moment is particularly ripe to adapt Henry George's ideas to contemporary conditions in developing countries, whether their antecedents are communist or noncommunist. The circulation of comprehensive and timely information on the subjects outlined above could have an immediate and practical impact on decisions that will affect the productivity and economic security of hundreds of millions of people.

#### Notes

- Interestingly, when Colombia introduced housing bonds indexed to inflation, they were immediately popular middle-class investments.
- 2. When then Vice President Nixon visited Moscow in 1959, he was shown the Master Plan of Moscow and asked for his opinion. "I am astonished," he said, "at the immense parks that you have in every part of Moscow. How can a city afford to buy so much land?" "For us, it is no problem," replied the Chief Planner, "we already own it all."

## Ethical Issues in Land Policy

### C. Lowell Harriss

**Customary norms of ethical behavior presumably apply** to actions involving real estate. But there is more. Land is different from man-made capital. As Mason Gaffney has pointed out, many characteristics make land and property in land a "distinctive factor of production." At minimum, the following aspects have significance for issues of ethics.

1. Nature made land. What one pays to own or to use land has little effect on the quantity that physically exists. But human use can erode and destroy elements of value; the investment of labor and savings can, and does, alter the physical character of plots of land. Moreover, things above the earth's surface (such as air rights and the broadcast spectrum) and below (such as minerals) should often be included in the definition of "land," with their own ethical concerns.

- 2. Location constitutes a unique characteristic of land. No two plots can have the same location, and location is important.
- 3. Land is immobile.
- 4. The value of a parcel of land depends to varying extent upon what exists in the "neighborhood"—the surroundings next door and beyond, including government facilities. In addition, what landowners do on their parcels affects those around them. One person's desirable use of a plot cannot induce others to move their part of the earth, and neighbors suffering from a harmful use cannot move their land to escape.
- 5. Buildings on land (the result of decisions made in the past) affect—perhaps for many years—what may be done profitably with a parcel.
- 6. Because of the permanence, fixed quantity, and immobility of land, some actions have long-lasting or even irreversible effects. Decisions about land use can have a "time element" that is much longer than those involved in typical economic choices.

#### The Individual and the Community

The actions of an owner or occupier of a parcel of land often have impacts on neighbors—at once and perhaps indefinitely into the future. What aspects of ethics, if any, ought to influence considerations of these effects?

Terms such as "spillovers," "neighborhood effects," "third-party results," and "externalities" suggest some of the issues that arise when one owner does something (or fails to do something) with a plot of land. We do have

interests in what goes on around us, nearby and sometimes far. "Publics" have developed instruments that attempt to serve such interests, such as zoning, deed restrictions, covenants, contracts, and so on. Compulsions to do some things with land, and prohibitions against doing other things, may or may not lead to results that meet reasonable criteria of ethical good or bad. But how can one predict and judge? At best, there is a large margin of uncertainty about the probable and possible benefits and costs. To what extent, and how can and should individuals and groups that act take account of the impacts on others?

Increasingly, issues of land use are associated with environmentalism—perhaps with the implication that a positive relation decides the matter. Aspects of ethics, though perhaps not of obvious and direct concern, are involved whenever burdens are imposed on some to benefit others.

A crucial factor is that compulsion and coercion are distinguished from voluntary actions. And though the voluntary would seem ethically better, even voluntary actions do not necessarily reflect the preferences of all who are affected. Government action that uses coercion may or may not reflect wise balance among all interests. It can be misguided and unproductive, or pleasing to many—even overwhelmingly of merit.

The fact that government is the actor does not assure net merits, ethically, of the decisive considerations. An administrative body acting within the authority granted to it may do something abominable. "Horrible examples" of the treatment of landowners by law and regulation, one hopes, are exceptions. But they illustrate the point that lawmaking does not necessarily embody ethically supportable principles.

#### "Takings"

Sometimes a group—the locality or the nation—seeks benefits by depriving the landowner of something. Litigation about "takings" presents a variety of situations, but a more or less typical case will consist of a group (the community) trying to get benefits without paying the landowner. An instinctive reaction is that the community should compensate the landowner. Presumably the benefits to it are great enough to provide for payment (cash or bonds). Is it not unethical for a group seeking benefits for itself to use the compulsory power of government to deprive landowners without compensation?

The U.S. Constitution has language that, to this layman, protects an owner against the desire of those who want to utilize the power of government without providing compensation. Is this not ethically admirable? I think so. Yet objections arise. For example, one sometimes hears that "the public" should be able to do good things regardless of its willingness (and perhaps ability) to pay. The attraction of "doing good with the other fellow's property" can be tempting. The appeal may approach the overwhelming. A likely case, I suppose, exists when irreversible change is at issue. But real-world cases get quite complex.

A gray area (which may be either large or small) lies between governmental actions that are clearly takings, and the authority to regulate—for example, for public health and safety—without an obligation to compensate landowners or others who suffer. I am not prepared to suggest concepts that would substantially narrow that gray area. The issues are inherently difficult.

One complication arises from a point central in Georgist thinking: the (alleged) taking may be of value created by the community, much above any contribution by the owner. The history of land prices reveals, strikingly in some urban areas, increases that by any reasonable reckoning are unearned. Is there any ethical obligation to pay for taking what the community has given? So stated, the answer is no. But in search of what is "right," is there no need to distinguish between what happened before and after acquisition by the present owner? If he or she paid the previous owner for what the community did, he or she would suffer from an uncompensated taking today. That does not seem ethically justified.

#### "Givings"

Governments, along with the community, are responsible not only for takings but also for "givings"—for creating values that attach to land (location). These seem to me especially appropriate for financing (local) government. This is a familiar Georgist point.

One might dream of a principle that a taking of land would not require compensation for values created by the community. Perhaps a time limit of ten or five years, or some other period, could be set. Is there enough practical prospect to warrant discussion as a serious possibility? Would it not be proper, on ethical grounds, to refuse to compensate for amounts that accrued during the possession of the owner at the time of taking? Perhaps. But the owner may be a developer who plans to seek his rewards in the form of enhanced land values. The better his development efforts, the larger the gains. What may appear as capital gain is in economic reality a combination of an ethically appropriate reward for

risk-taking (entrepreneurship of person and capital), along with an equivalent of interest. Such is very different indeed from "parasitical enrichment while sleeping."

#### Ethics of Underusing (Idling) Land

Individuals, businesses, nonprofit organizations, and governments may own land that is essentially idle or substantially underused. What are the ethical considerations? The owner, we recall, did not create this resource. No one else can create land in that location to take the place of what is idled (as can be done with man-made capital).

Relative to the potential usefulness of land, the scale ranges from remote deserts to land whose use may be only slightly below potential. Whether or not a plot is underutilized may be open to question. Therein lie difficult issues. The greater the production capacity—that is, the larger the available supply of creative resources—the better off we all can be, and not merely for the obvious reasons. A possible benefit that may be less than obvious: the division of labor (specialization) can be more extensive, and thus more productive, according to the quantity of resources. So with land. Any withdrawal of land from potential use tends to deprive people of an economy of some benefit achievable from the division of labor as broadly conceived.

In addition, underutilized locations can force people to travel longer distances between home and work. More expenditure on streets and utilities must follow from population dispersal ("sprawl") due in part to idle (underutilized) locations. The owners of such plots force costs on others,

depressing real standards of living by requiring more gasoline consumption, more auto wear, more accidents, and less time for recreation. The owner of a used car lot located on a major street, for example, may be making what for him at the time is the best use of the land. Nothing compels him to account for burdens on others who pass by. Each urban area can have its unique form of land underuse. Although the human costs imposed are dispersed and uncountable, clearly the results are not the mutual benefits of voluntary exchange.

#### The Need for Knowledge

Choices about land use must be made, and they will be. Indeed, inaction is a form of choice.

The issues are often more complex than may be recognized. They involve space and location. How much can one person, or group, know about the many different locations possibly affected? When the results extend over time, complications become more troublesome. Whether thinking of narrow self-interest or enlightened public welfare, the time horizon can be long. Some of the persons affected are not yet born; others may be elderly and in pressing need of immediate benefits.

Unknowns will plague anyone seeking responsible answers to the complex issues that inevitably arise because of the special characteristics of land. Markets—the human beings who are the actors that make the market—will represent and reflect many of these forces. The parties involved may or may not have high ethical standards, but competition in the market can have some balancing effects.

Other forces and considerations deserve mention. Who chooses the decisionmakers? How? We look chiefly to government officials—legislators, the executive (elected officials and civil servants), the judiciary, the military (e.g., the Corps of Engineers), and sometimes more or less voluntary groups with some authority from government. The making of laws, their administration, and their interpretation by judges all call for knowledge that is not always in abundance.

I see no general formula for bringing these various elements into the making of land use decisions. Is it not inherent in the nature of land that, because circumstances differ, one should examine each case as having unique elements as well as some elements in common with other cases? In short, there is need for knowledge about the facts of each case and about the experience of the past—in both comparable and different situations. Perhaps it is self-serving for an academician to call for research. Be that as it may, our judgments about the ethics, as well as about the economics, politics, and aesthetics of land use choices will benefit from study and suffer from ignorance.

#### Note

1. Mason Gaffney, "Land as a Distinctive Factor of Production," in T. Nicolaus Tideman, ed., *Land and Taxation* (London: Shepheard-Walwyn and the Center for Incentive Taxation, 1994), 39–102.

# Private Land and Public Values

Daniel W. Bromley

One of the dominant issues in contemporary environmental policy concerns the collective interest in the use of private land. We may think of this as a conflict of private and public values. One view holds that the owner is the ultimate source of authority with respect to private land use. Those who adhere to this position will cite the takings clause of the Fifth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution in which "just compensation" is required for "taking" private property for public use or benefit. In contrast, the other view holds that landowners maintain their property interest in land at the forbearance of others in the polity. Those who adhere to this position will cite a series of decisions by the U.S. Supreme Court in which the property interest can indeed reside with the larger public. That is, collective determination of acceptable land use does find support under the Constitution.

Debate over these two conflicting views seems to be intensifying as environmental policy moves into what I shall call its "second generation." In the early stages of environmental concerns, emphasis was primarily focused on pollution of air and water. Accordingly, for the past two decades environmental policies have sought to restrict the emission of pollutants into air and water. More recently attention has shifted to wildlife habitat and landscape considerations, and this moves the locus of policy from air and water—natural resources that are often some distance from private land—to resources under direct control of private owners.

Much of this new focus arises from concern for endangered plants and animals. The Endangered Species Act (ESA) as modified over the years has shifted environmental policies to a new arena of conflict. As long as the regulations affected mostly industrial polluters, and adverse effects were generally limited to possible job losses at factories, it was easy for the comfortable to be advocates for the environment. However, when the regulatory spotlight shifted to farmers, owners of small woodlots, and even those owning summer cottages, it became less convenient to be "green." Political trends embodied in the recent "Contract With America" suggest that the interest in "property rights" will be with us for some time.

#### **Henry George and Property Rights**

How do Henry George's views help us to think about current environmental policy? To answer this question we must move beyond the "single-tax" George. There are two dimensions to Henry George's conception of a property interest in land. The first—and the basis of the aggressive hostility to Georgist thought—concerns his views regarding the social

legitimacy of the income to accrue to those who hold landed property. The second—and one that is much ignored—concerns his views regarding the origins of the owner's rights in land. Think of the former as the capacity of the public fisc to share in the good fortune of those to whom the polity grants ownership rights. Think of the latter as the consent (forbearance) of the polity with respect to the extent and legitimacy of that ownership.

The immoderate reaction to George's writings centers on the attention he called to differential site rents representing a return to the owner above and beyond that necessary to draw land into its current use. He correctly pointed out that most of this economic rent is not due to exertions of the owner but to the mere serendipity of owning land capable of earning Ricardian rent.<sup>1</sup> By taxing this unearned increment, political jurisdictions should be able to fund their necessary activities without distorting the uses to which land might be put. Hence the "single" tax; one is enough.

The attention shown to the single tax seems to have diverted the collective mind—and serious analytical attention—away from George's conception of land ownership. Henry George has much to teach us about property rights in land, especially in the current context of property rights and environmental policy.<sup>2</sup> If we move beyond the controversies surrounding the single tax, we can ponder the ideas of Henry George in a much more reflective and receptive mood. In particular, we can examine the basis for Richard T. Ely's claim that "Henry George and others like him are helping to protect the property of the public."<sup>3</sup>

Henry George believed that socially created values should be socially appropriated, and that public fiscal burdens should be distributed on the

basis of benefits received rather than ability to pay. He argued that since the privilege of exclusivity and disposition is received by the owner at the expense of the rest of society, that privilege should be paid for in full.<sup>4</sup> The public appropriation of the full land rent (minus enough to keep the land usefully employed) is the essence of George's single tax.

This is not to deny the nature and extent of public benefits that arise from the industry and good work of those who own private land. The most pleasing landscapes—both rural and urban—often are the result of private initiative and hard labor. We call this aspect the "positive spillovers" of private land management. To a certain extent the public appreciation of this constructed landscape is captured in the market value of that land. It is also true, however, that much goes on in the private sphere that is not universally appreciated. And that is the rub.

When farmers drain and fill wetlands, wildlife suffer. When timber companies (or small woodlot owners) destroy aesthetic timber stands—and possibly jeopardize wildlife habitat—a number of individuals are offended. When English farmers rip out hedges to make room for larger agricultural machinery, many believe that an important element of the English country-side is lost. It is then that the presumed sanctity of private property receives its most formidable challenge from the political system.

If one strips away the historical baggage associated with private property, one ineluctable fact remains. That is, societies grant private control over land to particular individuals on the expectation that the larger interests of the polity will be served. Lest one doubt this, look no further than the French, Russian, and Chinese revolutions of the eighteenth and

nineteenth centuries. Those who own land can appeal to a range of wishful and opportunistic rationalizations for their ownership. But none of these "justifications" can withstand the cold hard glare of public skepticism. When collective doubt begins to spread across the land, all the rationalizations are as nothing before the court of public sentiment. This is not to suggest, necessarily, that this an ideal situation. But one cannot read economic and social history and reach any other conclusion.

Henry George found the logic of natural rights to be an agreeable basis for land ownership. That is, ownership was justified to the extent that it arose from individual initiative and hard work. But what cuts one way must also cut the other. Such logic legitimizes ownership in some instances (when one adds value to land), and discredits it in others (when one lives off the hard work of others). But we need not dwell on the dubious coherence of natural rights and Lockean labor to see that the benefits of land ownership consist of two components—the autonomy of ownership, and the financial rewards of ownership.

#### Distinguishing Benefit from Harm

When landowners are prevented through collective action (usually called "regulations") from undertaking activities that will harm environmental resources, they will likely insist that they are being asked to provide public benefits for which they should be compensated. The contrary position, of course, is that the regulations prevent them from actions that will create environmental harm. The benefit-harm distinction, usually rendered incoherent in legal decisions on takings, underlies much of the contention in land use disputes. When a farmer is prevented from draining a wetland

in the interest of preserving wildlife habitat, it stretches credulity to suppose that this constitutes the provision of a benefit. Rather, the prohibition on draining the wetland is essentially to prevent the creation of environmental harm. On this tack, one might reasonably ask why farmers (or others) should be compensated for giving up the opportunity to inflict harm on the larger society by destroying—as George put it—the "gratuitous offerings of nature"? Two important legal findings appear to apprehend this concept—Just v. Marinette County<sup>5</sup> and Penn Central Transportation Co. v. City of New York.<sup>6</sup>

These decisions threaten landowners who imagine that ownership bestows full control of land use without regard for the social implications of that use. However, owners of forest lands are not free to disregard the interests of others with respect to, for example, spotted owls or red cockaded woodpeckers. Urban landowners have long recognized the larger social interest in the land use decisions of private landowners. Rural landowners are now confronted with that same inconvenient realization. Indeed, the recent Supreme Court decision in *Babbitt v. Sweet Home Chapter of Communities for a Greater Oregon*<sup>7</sup> was a stark reminder to landowners that the content and meaning of property rights in land are discovered as courts seek to reconcile the varied and conflicting interests in natural habitats.

Henry George understood that the unique benefits of owning land carried with it social obligations. This idea did not sit well in his day, nor is it highly regarded these days. In the abstract, landowners will usually accept this idea. But when things get too close to home, attitudes change. George justified his single tax on the ground that the benefits of private

land ownership obligated owners to surrender that excess above the amount necessary to engage land in its current uses. While he certainly understood the economic benefits to arise from private ownership, he saw no apparent reason why large disparities in wealth should, over time, arise from that ownership.

When we consider this view in current terms, it seems reasonable to imagine George being an aggressive opponent of legal findings that require compensation for landowners when their development schemes and plans are dashed by collective action. After all, if owning land is a collective benefit bestowed on the relatively comfortable in society, there seems scant reason to transfer public revenue to owners when the larger collective regards their plans to be antisocial in nature.

We are, in essence, separating the logic (and practice) of taxing from the logic (and practice) of spending. While we have evidence that the polity does not wish to tax land-based income in the manner of Henry George, this does not rule out the possibility that the public ought to adopt a spending rule informed by Georgist logic. On this tack, public actions ("regulations") that diminish the value of the ownership interest would not be compensated except in cases of actual physical possession of the land by government (for highways, airports, public buildings, etc.). As I have argued elsewhere, 8 the idea of "regulatory takings" is a logical contradiction, and Henry George would likely concur.

The writings of Henry George remind us of the fragile and contentious nature of the social gift of private land ownership—and I use the word "gift" advisedly. To those whose minds restrict them to the apprehension of

simple absolutes, private ownership is clear in its origins, clear in its justifications, and clear in its timeless wonders conducing to economic efficiency and political liberty. Would that things were so simple.

Instead, private ownership of land has a most contentious history. It has struggled throughout the ages for a rationale that would protect it from those who would damn it, its efficiency claims are largely circular, and its credentials for assuring liberty are disingenuous. After all, how can something legitimately be said to assure liberty when not everyone has (or can obtain) that thing? Liberty must, if it is to have any meaning at all, arise from forces that transcend the mere ownership of land. To think otherwise is to situate liberty in trivialities. Henry George saw this most clearly.

#### Notes

- Ricardian rent arises because land of inferior quality is, with population growth, called into use. As this poorer land becomes—indeed defines—the new extensive margin, all inframarginal land earns a return above that necessary to induce its current use.
- 2. It was George's great misfortune to write a profound book at the dawn of the era in which serious science was becoming the exclusive province of those with academic posts. That George held no such post—indeed, that he did not possess a college degree (or any degree at all)—provided ample reason for the pedigreed classes to dismiss him. To imagine that George could write on economics without "formal training" was a serious thing indeed. After all, great mischief might ensue if the untrained could actually get their ideas into print.
- Richard T. Ely. 1890. "The Single Tax," Christian Advocate, 25 December: 856. Rutherford, NJ: Fairleigh Dickinson University Press.
- 4. Robert V. Andelson. 1979. *Critics of Henry George*. Rutherford, NJ: Fairleigh Dickinson University Press.
- 5. 56 Wis. 2d 7, 201 N.W.2d (1972).
- 6. 438 U.S. 104 (1978).
- 7. 115 S. Ct. 2407 (1995).
- Daniel W. Bromley. 1993. "Regulatory Takings: Coherent Concept or Logical Contradiction?" Vermont Law Review 17(3): 647–82.

## Henry George, Property Rights, and Taxation

Joan M. Youngman

**Of the many challenges Henry George left** for future land tax reform efforts, perhaps none is more basic, difficult, or important than to engage even a fraction of the public concern and attention he attracted to this area. That may require that contemporary debate follow George's example and address the justification for the tax in terms of property rights.

George's proposals captured both scholarly and popular interest to a degree almost hard to credit from the perspective of tax studies today. The very first volume of the *Harvard Law Review*, published in 1887–88, contained two pieces debating his views on property rights, characterizing them as among the central issues of the day, the topic of newspaper editorials, casual conversation, and learned discussion. An 1885 article in the *American Law Review* posed the question, "What is meant by private property in land?", noting that "[a] scientific and accurate answer to this

question has lately become exceedingly important, in consequence of the profound sensation produced by the publication of Mr. Henry George's truly remarkable book, *Progress and Poverty*, and by his other subsequent sociological writings."<sup>2</sup>

A century later, the sole large-scale tax on land value in the United States—the local property tax—is under incessant attack. While economists acknowledge the advantages of a land tax as reaching a commodity of inelastic supply, and political scientists recognize the virtues of a transparent levy whose imposition and burden are evident to the taxpayer, voters regard the property tax, in both its land and building components, with scorn. It is perennially named as the most unfair tax in opinion surveys. It is the subject of tax limitation measures and tax revolts. It is indicative of its current standing that California, the state that provided Henry George with the best evidence of the need for land policy reform,<sup>3</sup> has through Proposition 13 gone far toward abolishing a value-based property tax altogether.

Many causes of the political travails of the property tax have received considerable attention. Some are common to any wealth or asset tax, such as the liquidity problems faced by owners lacking the ready cash to make payment. Some relate to the uncertainties of valuation, particularly in times of rapidly changing prices. Even the virtues of the property tax contribute to its unpopularity. The visibility of an annual tax billed in one or two installments definitely promotes taxpayer awareness and government accountability. It also encourages the worldwide shift to consumption-based taxes, which spare public officials the burden of these virtues by being collected in a myriad of small transactions never summarized for the taxpayer.<sup>4</sup>

A crucial aspect of popular dissatisfaction with the property tax, however, stems not from the method of its application but from the rationale for its imposition. It is no accident that the early articles cited above focused on George's views of property, for by grounding his tax program in a concept of property rights, he was able to address issues of fairness and equity directly. Today, the property tax is generally justified in pragmatic terms, as a feasible and relatively stable revenue source for local governments,<sup>5</sup> or in its land tax component, as an efficient means of taxation that does not distort production and prices.

But these considerations are not responsive to a major cause of taxpayer dissatisfaction: a sense that the tax is unfair because it demands payment accompanied by no income or sale, and could therefore cause cash-poor owners to lose their property altogether. Such a tax cannot command support on efficiency grounds alone. An efficient tax can be highly offensive to standards of fairness, as the past decade's experiment with the poll tax in Britain dramatically demonstrated.

Any discussion of the fairness of a property tax necessarily requires consideration of property rights—why the government has a legitimate claim on some portion of the value of property held by a private individual. Yet at present it is extremely difficult to discuss taxation in this context. The technical legal setting within which taxation issues are considered has developed in isolation from that within which property rights are characterized and justified. A taking of property for public use requires just compensation, and taxation that requires compensation would be no taxation at all.<sup>6</sup> This self-evident division of the two modes of analysis obviates the need to justify taxation as a taking of property, but also divorces the legal

inquiry from concerns underlying popular dissatisfaction with the property tax. Legal scholars have demonstrated to their own satisfaction that a tax is not a "taking," but taxpayers know that something has been taken.

Henry George, of course, would have none of this. He considered taxation an exemplary method of confiscating property without formal expropriation or changes in title:

In this way the State may become the universal landlord without calling herself so, and without assuming a single new function. In form, the ownership of land would remain just as now. No owner of land need be dispossessed, and no restriction need be placed upon the amount of land any one could hold. For, rent being taken by the State in taxes, land, no matter in whose name it stood, or in what parcels it was held, would be really common property, and every member of the community would participate in the advantages of its ownership.<sup>7</sup>

George could zestfully affirm that taxation indeed confiscates property because the form of confiscation he advocated was entirely justified under his approach to property rights, which considered the fruits of an individual's labor inviolate, and unimproved land value common property. Moreover, George intended this expropriation to replace all other taxes. If, however, a tax on land does not serve as the sole source of public revenue, it must coexist with other levies, such as income taxes, sales taxes, and taxes on building values. The confiscatory function of a tax can no longer be embraced with such enthusiasm once its scope is so expanded.

How can a contemporary analysis of land taxation approach George's level of engagement, immediacy, and relevance—not to mention confidence—when each of these underpinnings of his thought has been subject to a century of shifting social, legal, and economic developments? If the fairness of a tax on property is to be addressed, there is no alternative but to acknowledge and respond to the property rights issues that this raises. Three points in particular demand special attention: the public or social contribution to land value, the meaning of an "unearned increment," and the basis upon which claims to ownership may be justified. Each requires consideration of the special status of land as a unique form of property, which in turn raises questions as to the meaning of property itself.

The current property rights debate in the United States by no means concedes a public interest in privately owned land. In fact, recent attempts to renegotiate charges for leasing, grazing, and mineral rights on federal land have dramatized the claims of private rights in *publicly* owned land.<sup>8</sup> Any renewed effort to establish a public claim to land value must be buttressed by detailed attention to the sources of that value. The link between public investment, social development, and land value increases must be clarified and brought within the property rights debate. This requires much more attention than has previously been directed to the details of valuation, for the mere assertion of a causal connection between social investment and land value increases will not influence public views. This must be demonstrated and substantiated through quantitative studies of property values.

If the social roots of land value justify a public interest in that property, what of the social contribution to other, non-land, forms of wealth? George assigned very little credit to the social forces that permit individ-

uals to produce and benefit from the work of their own hands. Consider, for example, his parable of the gatherers who collect eggs or berries and are paid with a portion of their harvest. George used this to support his contention that wages represent nothing more than the return to labor.9 Yet at the same time it illustrates the intangible social and legal arrangements that make the labor possible, for otherwise why would a gatherer in such a state of nature turn over a portion of his collections to anyone else? Why not instead gather eggs, shells, or berries and keep the entire harvest? George's parable only makes sense if the employers bring some essential element to the productive process—most likely, property rights in the land being worked. Even this simplest Robinson Crusoe example demonstrates how pervasive is the social and legal foundation on which individual enterprise rests. To the extent a public element in value creation is used to justify land taxation, the public role in creating other forms of wealth must be examined as well, particularly with regard to George's goal of taxing land value because it is unearned.

Much of George's appeal to fairness rests on this unearned nature of land value. If a land tax is to be justified on these grounds, the very meaning of that term requires fresh scrutiny. Since George's time, the term "unearned income" has been used to describe everything from dividends, interest, and capital gains<sup>10</sup> to an author's royalty payments<sup>11</sup> and bonuses paid to executives of loss-making enterprises.<sup>12</sup> To what extent does the "unearned" nature of land value justify a special tax upon it, and to what extent does fairness demand similar treatment of other forms of unearned wealth? As one 1888 article asked, "But is even the abuse of land worse than the abuse of other forms of property; and is the spectacle of one man owning 75,000 acres of rich land more deplorable than that of another

man holding enough personal property to buy him out?"<sup>13</sup> The early commentaries on George recognized that the problem of unearned wealth could only be analyzed in light of a theory of property rights. "The fact that land has a value which is unearned by the occupant is no ground at all for exacting such value from him if the land is really his."<sup>14</sup>

An investigation of the special status of land, how it is similar to and different from other forms of property, inevitably leads to consideration of the changing definitions of property itself. Clarifying and characterizing new concepts of property rights is a task of the utmost difficulty. One need only consider from a quarter-century's perspective the debate over the "new property" theories of Charles Reich embraced by the Supreme Court in an opinion finding a welfare recipient to have a constitutional property interest in the continued receipt of public assistance. Although this result would be unremarkable in many western democracies, the opinion's celebration of entitlements has aged so rapidly as an expression of social consensus in this country as to seem an anachronism in the context of current public debate on welfare reform.

Against this background, George's insistence that property rights proceed only from individual effort sounds a distinctly contemporary note.<sup>18</sup> Yet despite the cautionary example of this attempt, public debate must confront the changing social meaning of property, as even the Supreme Court recognized that such legal characterizations are rooted in social developments. How does George's analysis apply to forms of property with monopolistic elements, such as broadcast licenses, business franchises, patents, and copyrights? How does the changing place of land within the economic system affect the appropriate method of its taxation?

For Henry George, property rights emerged from individual effort. However, social and cultural considerations give rise to other types of claims to property that must be addressed in justifying its taxation. "A thing which you have enjoyed and used as your own for a long time . . . takes root in your being and cannot be torn away without your resenting the act and trying to defend yourself, however you came by it."19 An individual's property, and particularly a residence, will have special importance to its owner, without regard to whose labor produced the property, or whether it was produced at all. For this reason, some contemporary theorists have attempted to analyze property rights in light of their contribution to an owner's personhood and identity.<sup>20</sup> Although George's insistence on redressing the "theft" effectuated by traditional landholding patterns left no place for such considerations,<sup>21</sup> they require a response in any debate on property rights, taxation, and confiscation today. Any doubt on this score may be settled by the near-universal legislative support in this country for preferential taxation of the property of even extremely wealthy farmers and senior citizens, often on grounds that lack of cash might otherwise require them to sell their land to pay the tax upon it.

The profound difficulty of justifying land taxation through a consideration of property rights makes the absence of such discussion understandable. Yet without it, public perception of land taxation will in all likelihood continue to be one of fundamental unfairness. George's legacy challenges those concerned with contemporary land policy to restore these crucial issues to public debate.

- Samuel B. Clarke, "Criticisms Upon Henry George, Reviewed from the Stand-Point of Justice," Harvard Law Review 1 (1888): 265, and Paul C. Ransom, "The Justice of Private Property in Land," Harvard Law Review 1 (1888): 344 (correspondence).
- Christopher G. Tiedman, "What is Meant by 'Private Property in Land?" American Law Review 19 (1885): 878.
- 3. See Kevin Starr, Americans and the California Dream, 1850–1915 (New York: Oxford University Press, 1973), 134-41.
- 4. Ironically, the regressivity of consumption taxes often leads to recommendations that they be combined with some form of wealth or asset taxes, even as the former type replaces the latter. "[A] common recommendation for a comprehensive tax system is a broad-based consumption tax supplemented by a wealth transfer tax." Edward J. McCaffery, "The Uneasy Case for Wealth Transfer Taxation," Yale Law Journal 104 (1994): 283, 326 (citing Mill, Kaldor, Rawls, and Andrews).
- 5. "The property tax does have virtues, so the public interest is in doing what can be done to minimize the defects, rather than merely describing the defects of the institution. The principal virtues are pragmatic rather than philosophical ones. The tax exists; it produces very large revenues; and our society and economy have adjusted to and worked through many of the baleful effects of the tax." Dick Netzer, "The Impact of the Property Tax: Its Economic Implications for Urban Problems" (Report of the National Commission on Urban Problems to the Joint Economic Committee of the U.S. Congress, May 1968), 29.
- 6. "[T]he modern view of the subject, repeatedly emphasized in the decided cases, is that in general the power of taxation is plenary. . . . The proposition that all taxes are subject to scrutiny under the eminent domain clause receives not a whisper of current support." Richard A. Epstein, Takings: Private Property and the Power of Eminent Domain (Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1985), 283.

- 7. Henry George, *Progress and Poverty* (New York: Robert Schalkenbach Foundation, 1990), 406.
- 8. See note 18.
- 9. "If, for instance, I devote my labor to gathering birds' eggs or picking wild berries, the eggs or berries I thus get are my wages. Surely no one will contend that in such a case wages are drawn from capital. There is no capital in the case. An absolutely naked man, thrown on an island where no human being has before trod, may gather birds' eggs or pick berries. . . . If I hire a man to gather eggs, to pick berries, or to make shoes, paying him from the eggs, the berries, or the shoes that his labor secures, there can be no question that the source of the wages is the labor for which they are paid." George, 50.
- 10. Internal Revenue Code, sec. 911(d)(2), defining earned income as wages, salaries, and other amounts received as compensation for personal services.
- 11. Revenue Ruling 55-636, 1955-2 C.B. 17.
- 12. "In view of last year's massive loss by Barclays Bank, the bonus payment to the chief executive of BZW must surely become the classical definition of 'unearned income.'" "Unearned Income," Letter, The Times (London), 9 April 1993. Laws of the former Soviet Union defined income from private enterprise as "unearned." Christine Bohlen, "Soviets Take on Moonlighting: 'Unearned Income' an Ill-Defined Area," The Washington Post, 22 June 1986, A21.
- 13. Ransom, 347.
- 14. Clarke, 281.
- 15. Goldberg v. Kelly, 397 U.S. 254 (1970).
- 16. See, for example, "Basic Rights and Liberties," Part 4 in Germany and Its Basic Law, eds. Paul Kirchof and Donald P. Kommers (Baden-Baden: Nomos Verlagsgesellschaft, 1993). In "Rights in Twentieth-Century Constitutions," University of Chicago Law Review 59 (1992): 519, Mary Ann Glendon discusses the lack of welfare protection in the U.S. Constitution as reflecting the period of its adoption. "The first ten

amendments to the Constitution, backed up by judicial review, were in place long before our legislatures began to attend systematically to the health, safety, and wellbeing of citizens. In most other liberal democracies, the sequence has been just the reverse. In Canada, France, and Germany, for example, the foundations of the welfare state were in place well before regimes of constitutional rights appeared" [citations omitted]. She also points out the lack of any correlation between the strength of such constitutional provisions and the actual amount of social welfare spending in the countries adopting them.

- 17. In Goldberg v. Kelly, Justice Brennan quoted Professor Reich in finding "welfare entitlements as more like property than a 'gratuity.' Much of the existing wealth in this country takes the form of rights that do not fall within traditional common law concepts of property. . . . Society today is built around entitlement. The automobile dealer has his franchise, the doctor and the lawyer their professional licenses, the worker his union membership, contract, and pension rights, the executive his contract and stock options; all are devices to aid security and independence. Many of the most important of these entitlements now flow from government: subsidies to farmers and businessmen, routes for airlines and channels for television stations; long term contracts for defense, space, and education; social security pensions for individuals. Such sources of security, whether private or public are no longer regarded as luxuries or gratuities; to the recipients they are essentials, fully deserved, and in no sense a form of charity." 397 U.S. 254, at 262 n. 8 (1970), quoting Charles A. Reich, "Individual Rights and Social Welfare: Emerging Legal Issues," Yale Law Journal 74 (1965): 1245, 1255.
- 18. Professor Reich has written, "Twenty years later, we must confront the fact that the road opened by Goldberg v. Kelly has not been taken. Instead there has been retreat." Charles A. Reich, "Beyond the New Property: An Ecological View of Due Process," Brooklyn Law Review 56 (1990): 731. The unexpected

uses to which such theories may be put are illustrated by a 1995 book invoking Reich's "new property" to oppose restrictions on commercial uses of public land. "Drawing on the property theories of Charles Reich and George Stigler, Nelson suggests that private parties who are permitted to use the public lands—whether in the form of grazing rights, river use permits, or park access—develop at least partial property rights in those 'privileges.' . . . Drawing from failed land reform efforts of the 1980s, as well as from his own evolutionary theory of property rights, Nelson recommends safeguarding existing land use patterns (such as grazing permits) in the course of any transfer. Political pragmatism favors this course because it defuses a source of opposition. Nelson takes a less defensible step, however, by recommending ratification of any current pattern of rights holding: '[T]he best response to the new property is to formally recognize it and to transform the existing de facto rights into de jure rights." Marinn F. Carlson, "This Land is Your Land," review of Robert H. Nelson, Public Lands and Private Rights: The Failure of Scientific Management, Yale Law Journal 105 (1996): 1701.

- Oliver Wendell Holmes, "The Path of the Law," Harvard Law Review 10 (1897): 477, cited in Stewart E. Sterk, "Nollan, Henry George, and Exactions," Columbia Law Review 88 (1988): 1736.
- 20. See, for example, Margaret Jane Radin, Reinterpreting Property (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1993).
- 21. "Herbert Spencer says: 'Had we to deal with the parties who originally robbed the human race of its heritage, we might make short work of the matter.' Why not make short work of the matter anyhow? For this robbery is not like the robbery of a horse or a sum of money, that ceases with the act. It is a fresh and continuous robbery, that goes on every day and every hour. ... If the land belongs to the people, why continue to permit landowners to take the rent, or compensate them in any manner for the loss of rent?" George, 364–65.

### **Contributors**

**Daniel W. Bromley** is Anderson-Bascom Professor of Applied Economics at the University of Wisconsin-Madison. Professor Bromley's research focuses on natural resource and environmental economics, as well as economic development issues.

H. James Brown is President of the Lincoln Institute of Land Policy. A specialist in land use, housing, and regional economics, Dr. Brown formerly taught at the Kennedy School of Government at Harvard University, where he also served as Executive Director of the Joint Center for Housing Studies.

Kail E. Case is Marion Butler McLean Professor of the History of Ideas and Professor of Economics at Wellesley College, and Lecturer on Economics and Tax Policy in the International Tax Program at Harvard Law School. He recently served on a long-range planning committee of the Lincoln Institute.

William A. Doebele is Frank Backus Williams Professor of Urban Planning and Design at the Graduate School of Design, Harvard University. Professor Doebele has served on many advisory and project committees for the Lincoln Institute.

**C. Lowell Harriss** taught in the Department of Economics at Columbia University for more than forty years, and has written extensively about various aspects of public finance including property taxation. He is a Director of the Lincoln Institute.

**Dick Netzer** is Senior Fellow, Urban Research Center, and Professor of Economics and Public Administration at the Robert F. Wagner Graduate School of Public Service, New York University. Professor Netzer has been a Visiting Senior Fellow at the Lincoln Institute.

Martim D. Smolka is Associate Professor at the Urban and Regional Research Planning Institute (IPPUR) at the Federal University of Rio de Janeiro. He is also a Research Fellow for the Brazilian National Research Council and a Visiting Senior Fellow at the Lincoln Institute.

**Robert M. Solow** is Professor of Economics at the Massachusetts Institute of Technology. Professor Solow was awarded the Nobel Prize for Economic Science in 1987 for his work on technology and economic growth. Professor Solow is a Director of the Lincoln Institute.

Joan M. Youngman is a Senior Fellow at the Lincoln Institute, where her research focuses on taxation and land use. She is also a Research Fellow with the International Tax Program at Harvard Law School.

**The Lincoln Institute of Land Policy** is a nonprofit and tax-exempt educational institution established in 1974. Its mission as a school is to study and teach land policy, including land economics and land taxation. The Institute is supported by the Lincoln Foundation, established in 1947 by John C. Lincoln, a Cleveland industrialist. Mr. Lincoln drew inspiration from the ideas of Henry George, the nineteenth-century American political economist and social philosopher.

106

Integrating the theory and practice of land policy and understanding the fundamental forces that influence it are the major goals of the Lincoln Institute. The Institute explores both public and private actions affecting land use and regulation; the taxation of land and buildings; and land values, ownership, and property rights.

